

# From the Institute for Systemic Inflammation Research

of the University of Lübeck

Director: Prof. Dr. med. Jörg Köhl

# *In vivo* expansion of regulatory T cells induces long-term suppression of contact hypersensitivity

Dissertation for Fulfillment of Requirements for the Doctoral Degree of the University of Lübeck from the Department of Natural Sciences

Submitted by

Asmaa El Beidaq from Casablanca, Morocco

Lübeck 2016

First referee: Prof. Dr. R. Manz

Second referee: Prof. Dr. S. Ibrahim

Date of oral examination: 25.07.2016

Approved for printing. Lübeck, 26.07.2016

Hereby I declare that I have written the present dissertation without any assistance of third parties and have not used outside sources without declaration in the text. Any concepts or quotations applicable to these sources are clearly attributed to them.

This dissertation has not been submitted in the same or similar version, not even in part, to any other authority for grading.

Asmaa El Beidaq

# Acknowledgment

Foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to my advisor Prof. Rudolf Manz for the continuous support of my Ph.D. study, for his patience, motivation, and immense knowledge. His guidance helped me in all the time of research and writing of this thesis. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my Ph.D. study.

Besides my advisor, I would like to thank my mentors: Prof. Ralf Ludwig for the assistance he provided at all levels of my research project, and Prof. Kathrin Kalies for her insightful comments and encouragement, but also for the hard questions.

In my daily work I have been blessed with a friendly and cheerful group AG. Manz (especially Christopher Link, Katharina Hofmann, Britta Frehse, and Kathleen Kurwahn), thank you for the stimulating discussions, for the long days we were working together during my experiments, and for all the fun we have had in the last three years. I also appreciate the help of Ann-Katrin Clauder with translating the abstract of this thesis into German.

I recognize that this research would not have been possible without the financial assistance the priority program of the University of Lübeck "SPP-MIA" and the Excellence Cluster "Inflammation at Interfaces".

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my family: my parents, my sisters for supporting me spiritually throughout my Ph.D. study and my life in general. I would especially like to thank my boyfriend Matthew McGowan and his parents without whose love, encouragement, support, and editing assistance, I would not have finished this thesis.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	1
ZUSAMMENFASSUNG	3
1. INTRODUCTION	5
1.1 Anatomy and functions of the skin	5
1.2 The skin as an immune organ	5
1.3 Irritant contact dermatitis	7
1.3.1 Definition of irritant contact dermatitis	8
1.3.2 Mechanism of irritant contact dermatitis	8
1.4 Allergic contact dermatitis	9
1.5 Contact hypersensitivity: The sensitization phase	. 10
1.5.1 Hapten recognition and initial immune activation	. 10
1.5.2 Keratinocyte activation	. 11
1.5.3 Role of dendritic cells	. 12
1.5.4 Contribution of mast cells, B1 cells, iNKT cells, and neutrophils to allergen sensitization	13
1.6 Mechanisms of the challenge phase in CHS	. 14
1.6.1 Innate immune response	. 14
1.6.2 Hapten-specific T cell activation	. 14
1.7 Control of CHS-induced inflammation	. 16
1.7.1 Regulatory T cells: The first line of control	. 16
1.7.2 CHS regulation by Tregs	20
1.7.3 The contribution of regulatory B cells in CHS suppression	21
1.8 The IL-2/JES6-1 concept	21
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	24
2.1 Materials	24
2.2 Mice	. 27
2.3 Induction of CHS	28
2.3.1 TNCB-induced CHS model	28
2.3.2 Model of double CHS induction with TNCB and oxazolone	28
2.3.3 Ear swelling measurement	29
2.4 Skin irritation	29
2.5 IL-2/JES6-1 complex treatment	29

2.6 Diphtheria toxin treatment	30
2.7 Adoptive transfer	30
2.8 In vivo DC migration assay	30
2.9 Cell isolation from ear tissue	31
2.10 Blood preparation	31
2.11 H&E staining	31
2.12 Hapten-specific CD8 T cell detection	\$2
2.13 Flow cytometry	3
2.13.1 Surface staining	3
2.13.2 Intracellular staining	3
2.13.3 Treg staining	\$4
2.14 Data analysis	\$5
2.14.1 Flow cytometry data analysis	35
2.14.2 Statistical analysis	\$5
3. RESULTS	6
3.1 IL-2/JES6-1 treatment expands endogenous Tregs in vivo	6
3.1.1 IL-2/JES6-1 injection before sensitization efficiently suppresses CHS	6
3.1.2 IL-2/JES6-1 treatment expands both nTregs and pTregs	\$9
3.1.3 Characterization of the suppressive capacity of IL-2/JES6-1 expanded Tregs 4	1
3.1.4 Increased IL-10 expression by CD4 T cells in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice	4
3.2 Treg expansion before the challenge phase results in CHS suppression	6
3.3 Effects of IL-2/JES6-1 treatment on leukocyte infiltration into inflamed skin5	51
3.3.1 IL-2/JES6-1 treatment results in reduced neutrophil and CD8 T cell infiltration into challenged skin	0 51
3.3.2 Increased Treg frequencies in inflamed skin following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment5	54
3.4 IL-2/JES6-1 effect on neutrophils is lymphocyte-dependent5	6
3.5 Foxp3 <sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells mediate IL-2/JES6-1 induced CHS suppression5	58
3.6 IL-2/JES6-1 treatment affects CHS via multiple mechanisms6	51
3.7 IL-2/JES6-1 expanded Tregs down-regulate CD86 expression by dendritic cells	53
3.8 CHS suppression by Foxp3 <sup>+</sup> Treg expansion is long-lasting and not restricted to the originally inflamed tissue	55
3.8.1 Long-term CHS suppression following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment	55
3.8.2 CHS suppression by IL-2/JES6-1 is not limited to originally affected skin	57
3.8.3 In vivo expanded Tregs control CHS in an antigen-specific manner	58
3.9 <i>In vivo</i> Treg expansion results in prolonged reduction of hapten-specific IFN- $\gamma^+$ CD8 T cells in favor of increased populations of IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$ producing T cells	, 70

3.9.1 Decrease of hapten-specific CD8 T cells in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice70
3.9.2 Increased Treg frequencies reappear in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice long after
treatment
3.10 Decrease in regulatory B cells in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice in spleen74
<b>4. DISCUSSION</b>
4.1 Overview
4.2 Tregs are required for IL-2/JES6-1 suppressive effects on skin inflammation76
4.3 IL-2/JES6-1 treatment before sensitization resulted in defective hapten-specific CD8 T cell priming
4.4 Effector phase inhibition via IL-2/JES6-1 expanded Tregs78
4.5 IL-2/JES6-1 complexes affect T cell memory and induce long-term CHS suppression 80
4.6 Relevance in allergic contact dermatitis
5. OUTLOOK
6. REFERENCES
ABBREVIATIONS
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES
CURRUCILUM VITAE

#### ABSTRACT

Contact hypersensitivity (CHS) of murine skin serves as a model of allergic contact dermatitis. CHS is triggered by cutaneous exposure to small chemical structures called haptens. Skin dendritic cells (DCs) play an important role in the activation of hapten-specific CD8 T cells which represent the major effector cells driving this inflammatory reaction. In addition, neutrophils have been shown to play a critical role during sensitization and challenge phases. Over the past decade, several studies have demonstrated that forkhead-box-protein P3 (Foxp3)<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells (Tregs) can control the magnitude of CHS-mediated inflammation. However, whether an experimental therapy that expands endogenous Tregs can down-regulate CHS response remains to be elucidated. In this thesis, this issue was addressed using injection of an interleukin (IL)-2/anti-IL-2 monoclonal antibody JES6-1 complex (IL-2/JES6-1) as a means of Treg induction in a 2,4,6 trinitrochlorobenzene (TNCB) induced CHS model. IL-2/JES6-1 injection before or after hapten sensitization led to a systemic expansion of both natural Tregs (nTregs) and peripheral Tregs (pTregs). IL-2/JES6-1 treatment resulted in suppressed CHS skin inflammation indicated by a considerable reduction of ear swelling. Elevated IL-10 and transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) production by CD4 T cells, and lower numbers of hapten-specific interferon (IFN)-y producing CD8 T effector cells in lymph nodes (LNs) were observed in treated mice. In inflamed ear tissue, neutrophil and CD8 T cell infiltration was reduced while cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4)<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg frequencies were augmented. As shown by depletion studies, Tregs were required for the IL-2/JES6-1 mediated suppression of skin inflammation and impaired effector cells functions. IL-2/JES6-1 treatment during sensitization resulted in down-regulation of CD86 on hapten-bearing DCs and could inhibit effector cell priming in LNs indicating a suppression of T effector cell priming. Adoptive transfer of LN cells from sensitized mice into recipients treated with IL-2/JES6-1 showed impaired CHS, suggesting that IL-2/JES6-1 also affected the challenge phase independent of the priming. Furthermore, IL-2/JES6-1 treatment showed long-lasting effects, i.e. it attenuated the inflammatory reaction during repeated challenges weeks after the last injection. These results show that IL-2/JES6-1 expanded Tregs use multiple mechanisms to mediate efficient and prolonged suppression of CHS mediated inflammation.

#### ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Als Modell für die allergische Kontaktdermatitis wird die Kontakt-Hypersensibilität (CHS, contact hypersensitivity) der murinen Haut verwendet, welche durch den kutanen Kontakt mit niedermolekularen Chemikalien, den sog. Haptenen, induziert wird. Bei der Aktivierung von Hapten-spezifischen CD8 T-Zellen, die als die Haupteffektorzellen der inflammatorischen Reaktion gelten, spielen dendritische Zellen (DC, dendritic cells) in der Haut eine wichtige Rolle. Darüber hinaus sind auch Neutrophile involviert, sowohl bei der Allergen-Sensibilisierung, als auch und der akuten Entzündungsreaktion nach wiederholtem Allergen-Kontakt (Challenge-Phase). In den letzten Jahrzehnten haben verschiedene Untersuchungen die wichtige Rolle von forkhead-box-protein P3 (Foxp3)<sup>+</sup> regulatorischen T-Zellen (Tregs) bei der Kontrolle der CHS-vermittelten Entzündung aufgezeigt. Ob jedoch eine therapeutische Expansion von endogenen Tregs die Symptome der CHS weiter verbessern zu vermag, war bislang noch unklar. In der vorliegenden Arbeit wurden daher Tregs mittels Injektion eines Interleukin (IL)-2/anti-IL-2 Antikörper Komplexes (IL-2/JES6-1) in einem 2,4,6-Trinitrochlorbenzol (TCNB)-induzierten CHS-Modell induziert. Die Injektion von IL-2/JES6-1 vor und/oder nach der Hapten-Sensibilisierung führte zu einer systemischen Expansion von sowohl natürlichen Tregs (nTregs) als auch peripheren Tregs (pTregs). Die IL-2/JES6-1-Behandlung äußerte sich in einer deutlichen Reduktion der CHS Hautentzündung, was durch eine verminderte Schwellung des Ohres gezeigt werden konnte. Außerdem zeigten sich eine erhöhte IL-10 und *transforming growth factor-\beta* (TGF- $\beta$ ) Produktion durch CD4 T-Zellen und eine geringere Anzahl von Hapten-spezifischen Interferon (IFN)-y-produzierenden CD8 T-Effektorzellen in den Lymphknoten von behandelten Mäusen. Im entzündeten Gewebe des Ohres war die Infiltration von Neutrophilen und CD8 T-Zellen reduziert, wohingegen die cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4)<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg-Frequenz erhöht war. Wie durch Depletionsstudien gezeigt werden konnte, wurden Tregs für die IL-2/JES6-1vermittelte Suppression der Hautentzündung sowie die beobachteten Effekte auf die Effektorzellen benötigt. Die IL-2/JES6-1-Behandlung während der Sensibilisierung resultierte in einer Herunterregulation von CD86 auf Allergen-tragenden DC und einer Inhibition des *Primings* von CD8 Effektor T-zellen in den Lymphknoten. Der adoptive Transfer von Zellen der Lymphknoten aus sensibilisierten Mäusen zeigte eine beeinträchtigte CHS in Rezipienten, die zuvor mit IL-2/JES6-1 behandelt wurden. Diese Beobachtungen legen nahe, dass IL-2/JES6-1 auch die Allergen-*Challenge*-Phase unabhängig vom *Priming* beeinflusst. Die IL-2/JES6-1-Behandlung zeigte langanhaltende Effekte, d.h. sie führte zu einer Abschwächung der inflammatorischen Reaktion während wiederholter Allergen-*Challenges* auch noch Wochen nach der letzten IL-2/JES6-1-Injektion. Zusammenfassend zeigen die Ergebnisse, dass IL-2/JES6-1 Behandlung zu einer Expansion von Treg Populationen führt; und hierdurch über mehrere Mechanismen eine effiziente und anhaltende Suppression der CHS-vermittelten Inflammation bewirkt.

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1** Anatomy and functions of the skin

Skin is the largest organ of the body and most exposed to the environment. Long gone are the days when the skin was considered to resemble a passive barrier. Being constantly exposed to potential harms, the skin operates several functions in order to maintain homeostasis (1). The skin represents a physical and chemical barrier against microbial pathogens. In addition, it regulates the body temperature via sweat and hair. The skin acts also as a reservoir of hormones and vitamins. Moreover, the skin is a sensory-receptive area containing an extensive network of nerve cells sensing all environmental changes. The ability of the skin to perform various functions is tightly related to its sophisticated structure. The skin consists of an outer layer called epidermis, and an inner layer called dermis which provides the structural support of the skin, below which exists a loose connective tissue layer called hypodermis, an important depot of fat serving as an energy reserve. Hair follicles are complex structures implemented in the dermis and continued in the epidermis, from which hairs emerge from the skin (2).

#### **1.2** The skin as an immune organ

Rich in immune cells, the skin forms a complex immune network consisting of both innate and adaptive immune cells (3). Keratinocytes are the predominant cells in the epidermis. These cells are responsible for keratin synthesis. Keratinocytes express many pattern recognition receptors, including Toll-like receptors (TLRs) that recognize a wide variety of pathogen components and self-components, which makes keratinocytes play a key role in innate immune responses and detection of pathogens (4). In response to pathogen invasions, keratinocytes produce many cytokines and chemokines including tumor necrosis factor (TNF), interleukin (IL)-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-10, IL-18, IL-33, CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11 and CCL20 (5, 6). Cytokines are

important to direct the immune response to a specific effector mechanism (7), chemokines are a subclass of cytokines that are important to direct cellular migration, e.g. for T cell and innate effector cell recruitment to the skin (8). The epidermis also contains other immune cells ensuring different functions such as Langerhans cells,  $\alpha\beta$  T cells, and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (Figure 1.1). The dermis consists of a different set of structural and immune cells. The dermal layer is mainly composed of collagen and elastin fiber, in addition to blood vessels and nerve cells which are distributed throughout the dermis. Dermal dendritic cells, mast cells, macrophages and T cells are the main immune cells residing in the dermis (Figure 1.1). Changes in lipid composition and epidermal differentiation can disturb the skin barrier, which plays a relevant role in the initiation of several immune-mediated skin pathologies, such as atopic dermatitis (9).



**Figure 1.1: Immune cells residing in the skin.** The figure describes the different innate and adaptive immune cells present in the epidermis and the dermis of murine skin. Modified from (3).

#### **1.3 Irritant contact dermatitis**

Contact dermatitis is a one of the most common skin inflammations. It is characterized by redness, itching, burning, and rash of the skin. These symptoms affect the epidermis and the outer layers of the dermis, and occur after direct contact with xenobiotic compounds that trigger the innate immune system present in the skin. There are two types of contact dermatitis, depending of the nature of the substance that comes in contact with the skin: Irritant contact dermatitis and allergic contact dermatitis.

#### **1.3.1** Definition of irritant contact dermatitis

Irritant contact dermatitis is an antigen-nonspecific reaction of the skin to an irritant. It results from activated innate immunity to direct injury of the skin without prior sensitization (10). Irritant contact dermatitis is usually multifactorial. Different factors can influence the susceptibility to a cascade of pathophysiological events. These include skin barrier disruption, cellular damage, genetic predetermined strengths of pro-inflammatory mediator release, age, and sex. In addition to these endogenous factors, exogenous factors such as the nature of the irritant substance, the concentration of the chemical, the exposure volume, duration and exposure frequency do also modulate irritant contact dermatitis. Depending on these previously listed as well currently unknown factors, skin irritation can be presented as ten different clinical subtypes (10).

#### 1.3.2 Mechanism of irritant contact dermatitis

Disruption of the skin barrier leads to the release of IL-1 $\alpha$  by keratinocytes, which represents the initial step in the inflammatory cascade of skin irritation (11, 12). Activation of IL-1 $\alpha$ induces further release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, and IL-8 by epidermal and dermal cells (13). IL-1 $\beta$  plays a role in dendritic cell (DC) and T cell activation, it also induces the upregulation of intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) by endothelial cells (11, 14). TNF- $\alpha$  secretion results in increased expression of major of histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules and ICAM-1 on keratinocytes (15). The role of IL-6 in irritant contact dermatitis pathogenesis is not clear, and depends on the chemical nature of the irritant. It is thought that IL-6 contributes to the maintenance of skin inflammation by inducing the infiltration of mononuclear cells, whereas a recent study has reported an antiinflammatory role of IL-6 during skin irritation (16). In humans, IL-8 is known for being responsible for neutrophil activation and attraction to the affected site of the skin. In mice, IL-8 homologues exist called KC, MIP-2, and LIX which exert similar functions (17). Since irritant

contact dermatitis is established independently of the adaptive immune system, the role of T cells in this inflammatory process is not well defined. It has been shown that CD4 and CD8 T cells infiltrate the skin following irritant exposure (18). Although the involvement of chemokines and cytokines has been highlighted, the precise mechanism of irritant contact dermatitis remains to be elucidated.

#### **1.4** Allergic contact dermatitis

Allergic contact dermatitis is one of the most common skin diseases, affecting 15-20% of the global population (19). In contrast to irritant contact dermatitis, allergic contact dermatitis requires a prior sensitization to an allergen, which may resemble a xenobiotic chemical or hapten. Contact allergens are small organic molecules that only become immunogenic after binding to skin proteins, resulting in the generation of neo-antigens via a process called haptenization. This chemical reaction occurs between the electrophilic component of the hapten and the nucleophilic side chains of the target skin-protein. Haptenated self-proteins activate innate immune cells present in the skin, and this leads to a T cell mediated skin inflammation. The main difference between irritant contact dermatitis and allergic contact dermatitis is the involvement of hapten-specific T cells that amplifies skin inflammation, and generates allergen specific memory that results in increased inflammation following subsequent allergenic contacts. Many features are shared between these two diseases in the early innate response, i.e. activation of innate immune cells by IL-1β and TNF-α. However, the upregulation of CXCR4 and CCR7 expression on Langerhans cells occurs only in allergic contact dermatitis. These two chemokines are required for Langerhans cell migration toward skin draining lymph nodes (LNs) (20). Moreover, studies focusing on gene expression analysis have also demonstrated that allergens but not irritants may lead to the upregulation of certain genes such as CCL23, CCL4, CYP27A1, HML2, NOTCH3, S100A4, and SLAM in DCs (21). In humans, the sensitization phase usually takes several weeks to months of repeated contact with the sensitizing allergen,

the patient becomes then sensitized and progressively develops allergy following further exposures to the same allergen, and this phase is called challenge. Contact hypersensitivity (CHS) is the experimental model used in mice to study the mechanisms and potential treatments of allergic contact dermatitis. In CHS models, skin allergy is induced using potent lipophilic compounds such as TNCB which are dissolved in an organic solvent and applied directly to the skin. In the CHS model used in this study, murine ear skin is challenged by a second application of the allergen five days after sensitization, and the magnitude of ear swelling during the following days reflects the intensity of the effector response induced (22).

#### **1.5** Contact hypersensitivity: The sensitization phase

#### 1.5.1 Hapten recognition and initial immune activation

Haptens often derive from unstable chemicals in an inactive form named pro-haptens. Once in contact with skin-proteins, pro-haptens are metabolized in the epidermis by endogenous enzymes resulting in an electrophilic hapten owning antigenic properties (23). Depending on their structural nature, haptens can trigger DC and other innate immune cell activation directly via TLRs recognition. TLRs are a family of receptors recognizing pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), including lipids, lipoproteins, proteins, and nucleic acids (24). TLRs can also recognize damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), which are self-molecules that can be released during necrotic cell death. Most TLRs, except for TLR3 and TLR4, signal exclusively via the adaptor MYD88, which activates the transcription factor nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B) and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) to induce the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 $\beta$  (24). Recent studies have shown that mice deficient in TLR2 and TLR4 failed to establish sensitization to TNCB due to defective DC-T cell interactions (25). Haptens can also activate TLRs indirectly by generation of hyaluronic acid (HA) fragments which then trigger TLR activation and subsequent pro-inflammatory cytokine production. HA fragments are non-sulfated, linear polysaccharides

consisting of repeated units of  $(\beta,1-4)$ -d-glucuronic acid- $(\beta,1-3)$ -N-acetyl-D-glucosamine expressed in the extracellular matrix and on the cell surface. It has been shown that HA fragments undergo rapid degradation at sites of inflammation, which provides maturation signals to DCs leading to their migration to LNs and priming of hapten-specific T cells (26, 27). In fact, the degradation of HA fragments results from the rapid generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that occurs during the interaction between contact allergens and skin proteins in an incompletely understood mechanism. ROS production is accompanied by adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and DAMPs release (28).

In addition to TLRs, innate immunity can be activated via NOD-like receptors (NLRs). Activation of NLRs by PAMPs or DAMPs involves the formation of an intracellular complex of proteins termed inflammasomes (29). Several studies have shown that keratinocyte activation and subsequent IL-1 $\beta$  production occurs in an NLR-dependent manner (30–32). In TNCB-induced CHS, ATP and purinergic receptor P2X7-dependent pathways have been reported as being crucial for NLRP3 (member of NLR family) inflammasome activation (33). Additionally, lack of NLRP12 resulted in impaired migration of skin DCs to LNs and neutrophil infiltration into the skin, and thus the impairment of the CHS response (34).

#### **1.5.2** Keratinocyte activation

Keratinocytes have an active role in the induction of CHS. Their production of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF-  $\alpha$  after hapten exposure plays a critical role in Langerhans cell maturation and migration from the epidermis to LNs (35). Most CHS reactions involve IFN- $\gamma$  producing Th1 cells. In response to IFN- $\gamma$  stimulation by Th1 cells, keratinocytes upregulate the expression of ICAM-1 which promotes the infiltration of ICAM-1 ligand/CD11a-positive T cells into the epidermis (36). Keratinocytes are also able to influence T cell polarization after hapten exposure through conditioning skin-resident DCs. In contrast to most murine models, CHS to fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) involves Th2 cells. Sensitization to FITC in mice requires dibutyl

phthalate (DBP) which induces the expression of thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TLSP) by keratinocytes (37). TLSP stimulates DCs to induce the differentiation of naïve T cells into Th2 type cells (38).

#### 1.5.3 Role of dendritic cells

Antigen presentation by DCs in the LNs and T cell priming is the key event during the sensitization phase. Various DC subtypes are present in the skin: Langerhans cells are dominating the epidermis while dermal DCs are present in the dermis, and can be either langerin positive or negative. Both populations efficiently acquire antigens and migrate to skin draining LNs (39). Due to their migration from the epidermis to draining LNs, Langerhans cell density decreases by approximately 50% at 24 hours after cutaneous penetration of the sensitizing hapten (40). Upon activation, DCs undergo change in morphology and exhibit increased expression of CD83 which is a maturation marker, and costimulatory molecules, including CD40, CD80, and CD86. These molecules are crucial in T cell priming, as they provide the second stimulatory signal during antigen presentation allowing an efficient T cell activation and proliferation (41–43). Different studies have shown that Langerhans cells and dermal DCs initiate the sensitization phase in a compensatory manner (44). Depletion of Langerhans cells did not affect CHS establishment, suggesting that its role can be taken over by other DC subsets (45). It has been reported that dermal DCs migrate faster to the LNs, while epidermal Langerhans cells take more time to migrate and need 48 hours to reach the LNs after skin sensitization (46). In Th1 driven CHS models, DCs secrete a combination of cytokines in the LNs that polarize the T cell response towards Tc1/Th1 and Tc17/Th17 effector/memory T cells. The inflammatory milieu is needed to overcome constitutive immune regulation. Following priming by hapten-bearing DCs, hapten-specific T cells undergo clonal expansion and then circulate throughout the blood until they are recruited back to the skin upon re-exposure of the same hapten.

# **1.5.4** Contribution of mast cells, B1 cells, iNKT cells, and neutrophils to allergen sensitization

• **Mast cells:** The role of mast cells during CHS is quite controversial. Using different models, earlier studies have shown that CHS was impaired in mast-cell deficient mice (47, 48). However, transgenic mice used in these studies were not solely deficient for mast cells, but exhibited other immunological deficiencies, i.e these mice lacked neutrophils. More recently, conditional depletion of mast cells using diphtheria toxin (DT) resulted in reduced FITC and oxazolone induced CHS (49). In these studies, skin DC migration and T cell priming in the sensitization phase were impaired in mast cell-depleted mice.

• **B1 cells:** Considered as innate lymphocytes, B1 cells are T cell-independent, do form memory to a much lower extent than B2 cells (50), may not form germinal centers, and are the major source of IgM antibodies found in serum (51). B1 cells are activated during CHS sensitization, proliferate within 24 hours and produce hapten-specific IgM. CHS was found to be suppressed in B1 cell-deficient mice, and hapten-specific IgM restored skin inflammation (52). These antibodies activate complement which triggers inflammation through binding to complement receptors on mast cells (53), leading to the recruitment of effector T cells during elicitation.

• **iNKT cells:** They present a unique T cell lineage by bearing an invariant TCR which recognizes a small variety of glycolipid antigens in the context of CD1d. Cutaneous application of the hapten rapidly induces iNKT cell proliferation in the liver but not in lymphoid organs. When activated, iNKT cells produce IL-4 leading to the rapid activation of B1 cells (54).

• **Neutrophils:** Neutrophils represent the first line of defense against invading bacterial and fungal pathogens (55). In CHS, neutrophils are recruited by mast cells and endothelial cells via the upregulation of their chemoattractants CXCL1 and CXCL2, and their functions include ROS production and IL-1 $\beta$  secretion leading to the induction of DC migration to the LNs (56).

Infiltration of neutrophils into sensitized skin has been observed few hours following sensitization (56, 57). Depletion of neutrophils resulted in defective DC migration and hapten-specific T cell priming in the LNs (56). Hence, suggesting that neutrophils play an important role during sensitization.

In summary, sensitization to haptens is established through a series of activation processes during the CHS response. First, haptens bind to skin proteins and modify their structure into haptenated peptides which are further recognized by keratinocytes and DCs. Neutrophils, mast cells, and keratinocytes mediate DC activation, which leads to DC migration to skin draining LNs and activation/proliferation of allergen/hapten-specific T cells.

#### 1.6 Mechanisms of the challenge phase in CHS

#### **1.6.1** Innate immune response

The challenge phase is triggered by a second exposure to the sensitizing allergen/hapten. Stimulated by the hapten, keratinocytes produce IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  in a NLR-dependent manner (58), leading to the upregulation of ICAM-1 and P/E-selectins. Expression of these adhesion molecules is important to facilitate T cell infiltration to the skin. Additionally, mast cells produce histamine, which increases vascular permeability providing additional aid to effector T cell infiltration. The expression levels of CXCL1 and CXCL2 (chemoattractants for neutrophils) on keratinocytes and mast cells increases 3 hours after challenge, followed by elevated CXCL9 and CXCL10 expression (chemoattractants for Tc1 cells) 6-9 hours after challenge (59). These increases correlate with an early recruitment of neutrophils followed by effector T cells.

#### **1.6.2** Hapten-specific T cell activation

Recruited by activated innate immune cells, T cells activated in LNs infiltrate the skin where they are locally further activated by hapten-bearing DCs. It has been shown that a stable interaction between cutaneous DCs and T cells takes places in skin (60), and CD86 inhibition

by siRNA resulted in reduced skin inflammation (61). The contribution of CD4 and CD8 T cells during CHS-mediated inflammation has been controversial. However, selective depletion of these T cell populations has revealed that CD8 T cells are the major effector cells. CHS was reduced after CD8 T cell depletion using monoclonal antibodies, whereas CHS was exaggerated following CD4 T cells depletion. However, simultaneous depletion of both CD4 and CD8 T cells only at the challenge phase further reduced the CHS response (62–64), suggesting that CD4 T cells contain both effector and suppressor populations. These results were confirmed using MHCI and MHCII deficient mice (63), indicating that CD8 T cells are pro-inflammatory effector cells while CD4 T cells contain both effector and regulatory T cells. Interestingly, CD8 T cells have been shown to be able to prevent hapten-specific CD4 T cell priming through the induction of Fas-mediated apoptosis in CD4 T cells, which results in CD8 T cell dominance in the effector phase (65). Neutrophils play an important role in directing hapten-specific CD8 T cells into the challenged skin via expression of Fas ligand (FasL) and perforin (66, 67). Kish et al. have shown that hapten-induced neutrophils specifically express perforin and FasL, which results in the induction of many chemokines that are chemoattractants for T cells (66). Infiltrated T cells then stimulate the neighboring cells to produce more inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, which amplifies T cell infiltration and chemokine production. Depending of their properties, different haptens can induce different types of cytokines, i.e TNCB induces IFN-  $\gamma$  production by CD8 T cells while FITC triggers Th2 cytokine production, such as IL-4 (68). Previous studies have demonstrated the detection of high levels of IFN- $\gamma$  in challenged skin. IFN- $\gamma$  is classically a Th1 cytokine, however, CD8 T cells are mainly responsible for its production in CHS-induced inflammation (64). It has been proposed that IFN-y producing T cells trigger Fas-induced apoptosis of keratinocytes (69). This potent cytokine also induces mononuclear cell infiltration, triggers the upregulation of ICAM-1, and induces increased expression of MHCI on keratinocytes (70). Cytotoxicity is another important property CD8 T cells use in their effector functions during CHS. Mice double deficient in perforin and FasL

were able to prime hapten-specific CD8 T cells in LNs, but failed to develop CHS due to the lack of hapten-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. This hapten-specific toxicity was exclusively mediated by CD8 T cells through perforin or the Fas/FasL pathways (71). This inflammatory cascade leads to dermal edema and epidermal spongiosis, which peaks 24–48 hours after hapten challenge.

#### 1.7 Control of CHS-induced inflammation

#### 1.7.1 Regulatory T cells: The first line of control

Early studies have shown that MHCII deficient mice exhibit enhanced CHS (63), suggesting that CD4 T cells play a regulatory role in CHS. More recently, these cells were shown to constitutively express CD25 (IL-2 alpha receptor), as well as Foxp3 which is a master regulator of the regulatory pathway in the development and function of Tregs (72, 73). The characterization of Tregs has permitted a better understanding of their nature, origins, and functions during inflammation. Two distinct Treg subpopulations exist: nTregs that are generated in the thymus and are present without exposure to foreign antigens, and pTregs which are formed after antigen contact in the periphery. Previous studies have shown that Helios and Neuropilin-1 (Nrp-1) represent useful markers to distinguish nTregs from pTregs (74-76). Helios, the first identified nTreg marker, belongs to the Ikaros transcription factor family. 100% of thymic Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs and about 70% of Tregs in the periphery express Helios which corresponds to nTregs frequencies found in thymus and spleen, respectively. In vitro TGF-β induced Tregs fail to express Helios, same observations were made for antigen-specific inducible Tregs (77). Furthermore, epigenetic Treg-specific demethylated region (TSDR) modifications have been used to distinguish nTregs from pTregs. Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Helios<sup>+</sup> Tregs were shown to have a fully methylated TSDR, while Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Helios<sup>-</sup> Tregs only showed a 45% methylated TSDR (78), demonstrating that Helios<sup>+</sup> Tregs are originated from the thymus. Nrp-1 is a receptor for the vascular endothelial growth factor family, and plays a role in Treg

suppressive functions (77, 79–81). It has been shown that Nrp-1<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs are important for effector T cell suppression (82). Tregs adopt various mechanisms to inhibit DC functions (Figure 1.2). Tregs can prevent the upregulation of costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 via the expression of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) which binds to these molecules (83). Lymphocyte activation gene 3 (LAG-3) is another molecule expressed on Treg cell surface that can inhibit DC maturation and stimulatory capacity by binding to MHCII molecules expressed by immature DCs (84). Additionally, Tregs can use extracellular ATP inactivation by CD39 which is an ectoenzyme that hydrolyzes ATP or ADP to AMP, preventing its usage by DCs (85). Another strategy Tregs can use for suppression of T effector cell activation is to promote long interactions between Treg cells and immature DCs via Nrp-1 (86), which prevents antigen presentation by DCs to effector cells.

Tregs can also suppress effector cells directly, using different strategies (Figure 1.3) (87). Production of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10, TGF- $\beta$ , and IL-35 were among the first functions shown in Tregs that directly affect T effector cells (88). Moreover, Tregs have the capacity to compete with T effector cells for IL-2 due to their high expression levels of the IL-2 receptor CD25, resulting in IL-2 deprivation mediated apoptosis of T effector cells (89). Tregs can also kill T effector cells by granzymes (90), which is similar to the mechanism cytotoxic CD8 T cells use for their cytolytic activity. Furthermore, Tregs and T effector cells can bind to the same DC, which facilitate effector cells inhibition by Tregs in a CTLA-4-mediated fashion (Figure 1.4).



**Figure 1.2: Possible mechanisms involved in DC inhibition by Tregs.** This figure illustrates the major cell contact mediated mechanisms Tregs use to prevent DC maturation and subsequent co-stimulation of T effector cells. Modified from (86).



**Figure 1.3: Mechanisms of direct T effector cell suppression by Tregs.** The figure shows the different ways Tregs control effector cells, including anti-inflammatory cytokine production, IL-2 consumption, and granzyme-mediated apoptosis. Modified from (86).



**Figure 1.4: CTLA-4 mediated T effector suppression by Tregs via DC contacts.** Effector T cells and Tregs (T suppressor) could meet at an antigen presenting cell (APC) during antigen (Ag) presentation, facilitating the binding of CTLA-4 on suppressors to CD80 and/or CD86 on activated effector cells. Modified from (87).

#### 1.7.2 CHS regulation by Tregs

Treg depletion either before sensitization or before challenge resulted in enhanced and prolonged CHS response (91), while transfer of Tregs led to CHS suppression (92). During the sensitization phase, Tregs control the priming and expansion of hapten-specific T cells. It has been shown that hapten-specific CD8 T cells produce IL-2 in skin draining LNs during sensitization which is required for Tregs (93). Ring *et al.* have demonstrated that Tregs co-localized with DCs during sensitization in the LNs resulting in reduced expression of CD80 and CD86 by DCs, and thus impairment of hapten-specific CD8 T cell activation. This inhibition was mediated via gap junction formation (94). During the challenge phase, Tregs migrate to the affected skin and express high levels of CTLA-4 and IL-10, and exhibit more potent suppressive activities compared to Tregs residing in the LNs (95). Tregs have been shown to be able to block effector cell infiltration to the skin by downregulating E/P-selectin expression in blood endothelial cells (92). This blockade was mediated by IL-10 production and also by adenosine generation via ATP degradation (96). A possible induction of hapten-specific Tregs have shown

that Tregs found in the challenged skin home back to the LNs in order to orchestrate the resolution phase, and keep the ability to migrate back to the skin (98). All these cited studies used either Treg depletion or Treg transfer to demonstrate the importance of Tregs in controlling the magnitude of the CHS response. However, so far, it was not known whether the expansion of endogenous Tregs will suppress CHS establishment. The present study addressed this question.

#### 1.7.3 The contribution of regulatory B cells in CHS suppression

In addition to Tregs, regulatory B cells (Bregs) have been proposed as regulator cells during CHS (99). Bregs are identified as CD19<sup>+</sup> CD5<sup>+</sup> CD1d<sup>hi</sup> cells that produce anti-inflammatory IL-10. CD19-deficient mice exhibited augmented CHS responses, and the transfer of Bregs into CD19-deficient mice normalized the severity of CHS-mediated inflammation, indicating their involvement in the control of CHS response.

#### 1.8 The IL-2/JES6-1 concept

IL-2 plays an important role in T cell activation and proliferation. IL-2 is thought to be mainly produced by CD4 T cells, and to a lesser extent, by CD8 T cells, natural killer (NK) cells, B cells, and natural killer T cells (100). During steady-state conditions, IL-2 production is low but constant and serves primarily for the development and homeostatic survival of Treg cells (101–103). These low levels of IL-2 are not sufficient to stimulate the proliferation of memory CD8 T cells *in vivo* (104). Induction of IL-2 production occurs following antigen activation of CD8 and CD4 T cells. This phenomenon is tightly regulated by silencing the IL-2 gene via the transcription factor B lymphocyte-induced maturation protein 1 (BLIMP1), which otherwise indicated by its name is also expressed in T cells.

The IL-2 receptor (IL-2R) consists of three subunits termed IL-2R $\alpha$  (CD25), IL-2R $\beta$  (CD122), and the common  $\gamma$  chain (CD132) (105–107). CD122 and CD132 subunits are critical for signal transduction, whereas CD25 doesn't contribute to the signaling but confers high-affinity

binding of IL-2 to its receptor, therefore increasing ligand-receptor affinities (107–109). Highaffinity  $\alpha\beta\gamma$  IL-2Rs are constitutively found on Tregs, and transiently on recently-activated T cells (100, 110), while low-affinity  $\beta\gamma$  IL-2Rs are highly expressed on memory CD8 T cells and NK cells, and are present at a low level on naïve CD8 T cells (100, 110). Signal transduction of IL-2R activation occurs via several intracellular pathways, including the Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK-STAT) pathway, the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)–AKT pathway, and the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway (100, 111, 112).

Administration of low-dose IL-2 has been used as a therapy for several diseases (113, 114). However, its rapid renal elimination represents a major limitation for this treatment strategy. Usage of higher doses of IL-2 causes severe toxic side effects and therefore cannot be a solution to this problem. In order to extend the IL-2 half-life *in vivo* and strengthen its biological activity, previous studies have suggested IL-2 coupling to larger proteins such as IL-2- Immunoglobulin (Ig)G fusion proteins. These attempts however, had limited success (115, 116). More recently, injection of exogenous IL-2 complexed with anti-IL-2 monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) was shown to efficiently enhance the biological activity of IL-2 *in vivo* in mice (117).

Two functionally distinct murine IL-2/mAb complexes are distinguished (117–119). Complexing IL-2 with anti-mouse IL-2 mAb clone S4B6 leads to IL-2/S4B6 complexes that preferentially stimulate cells expressing high levels of  $\beta\gamma$  IL-2Rs, notably memory CD8 T cells and NK cells (119). Conversely, the usage of anti-mouse IL-2 mAb clone JES6-1A12 generates IL-2/JES6-1 complexes which interact almost exclusively with cells expressing high levels of  $\alpha\beta\gamma$  IL-2Rs. Hence resulting in induction of selective expansion of Treg populations (117, 119). The difference of the functional properties of IL-2/S4B6 and IL-2/JES6-1 complexes is explained by the binding of the two mAbs to different IL-2 epitopes (119, 120). S4B6 recognizes and binds to the CD25 binding site, and thereby covers the IL-2's epitope binding to

CD25, thus biasing IL-2/S4B6 complexes to preferentially stimulate CD122<sup>hi</sup> cells (memory CD8 T cells and NK cells) (Figure 1.5). Vice versa, JES6-1A12 is attached to IL-2's epitopes binding to CD122 and CD132, which makes IL-2/JES6-1 complexes selectively stimulate CD25<sup>hi</sup> cells, such as Treg cell (118).



**Figure 1.5: Mechanism of action of IL-2/mAbs complexes.** IL-2/mAbs complexes can selectively target a specific cell subset depending on the epitope recognized by the monoclonal antibody used in the complex. (a) The antibody S4B6 binds to the region of IL-2 that interacts with CD25 and therefore stimulates CD122<sup>hi</sup> cells, notably memory CD8 T cells and NK cells. (b) JES6-1 antibody interacts with the region of IL-2 that makes contact with CD122 which leads to Treg induction. Modified from (119).

# 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 2.1 Materials

#### Table 2.1.1: Buffers and medias

Name	Composition	Source	Storage
PBS (1X)	8 g/l NaCl 0.2 g/l KCl 1.44 g/l Na2HPO4	Calbiochem Calbiochem Sigma-Aldrich	RT
PBS-BSA	PBS with 0.5% BSA	Sigma-Aldrich For BSA	4°C
RPMI medium 1640 with Glutamine	medium + 10% FCS 200 µg/ml Penicillin 200 U/ml Streptomycin 5 x 10-5 M Beta 2- mercaptoethanol	Gibco Gibco Invitrogen Invitrogen Sigma-Aldrich	4°C
Red blood cell lysis buffer (10X)	8.02 g NH4C1 0.84 g NaHCO3 0.37 g C10H16N2O8 100 ml H2O	Sigma-Aldrich Geyer Th. GmbH Geyer Th. GmbH	4°C

#### Table 2.1.2: Kits

Name	Method	Composition	Source	Storage
Foxp3 Fix/Perm Buffer set	Intracellular Foxp3 staining	Foxp3 Fix/Perm Foxp3 Perm buffer	Biolegend	4°C
Fixation/Permeabilization Solution Kit	Intracellular cytokine staining	Fixation buffer Perm/Wash buffer	Biolegend	4°C

Anti-mouse antibodies	Clone	Conjugation	Source
Anti-CD11b	M1/70.15.11	A700	In house production
Anti-Ly6G	1A8	APC	Biolegend, Germany
Anti-IFN-γ	XMG1.2	APC	Biolegend, Germany
Anti-IL-10	JES-16E3	FITC	Biolegend, Germany
Anti-CD19	1D3	APC-Cy7	Biolegend, Germany
Anti-CD138	281-2	PE	Biolegend, Germany
Anti-Foxp3	FJK-16s	PE	eBiosciences, Germany
Anti-B220	RA3.B2	A700	In house production
Anti-CD5	53-7.3	A405	eBiosciences, Germany
Anti-Helios	22F6	FITC	Biolegend, Germany
Anti-Nrp-1	3E12	PE-Cy7	Biolegend, Germany
Anti-LAP-1	TW7-20B9	PerCP-eFluor 710	Biolegend, Germany
Anti-CTLA-4	UC10-4B9	APC	Biolegend, Germany
Anti-CD4	GK1.5	eF450	eBiosciences, Germany
Anti-CD8	53-6.7	A700	In house production
*Anti-IL-2	JES6-1	Purified	In house production
Anti-CD1d	K253	PE	Biolegend, Germany
*Anti-IL-2 was used for injection of IL-2/JES6-1 complexes			

All listed antibodies were stored at 4 °C. Rat IgG1, IgG2a, IgG2b (eBioscience) with the matching fluorochromes were used as isotype controls.

Table 2.1.4: List of reagents used in CHS induction

Name	Usage	Source	Storage
TNCB	Hapten sensitization and challenge	Sigma-Aldrich	RT
Acetone	Dissolvent	J.T.Baker®	RT
FITC	Hapten sensitization	Sigma-Aldrich	4 °C
DBP	Dissolvent	Sigma-Aldrich	RT
Croton oil	Skin irritation	Sigma-Aldrich	RT
Oxazolone	Hapten sensitization and challenge	Sigma-Aldrich	RT
Diphtheria toxin	Treg depletion	Sigma-Aldrich	-80 °C

Name	Usage	Source	Storage
PMA/Ionomycin	Polyconal stimulation of cells for intracellular staining	Sigma-Aldrich	-20 °C
Brefeldin-A	Inhibition of protein transport within cells	eBioscience, Germany	4 °C
Ketamin	Mice anesthesia	Sigma-Aldrich	4 °C
Dispase	Tissue dissociation	Roche	-20 °C
Collagenase A	Collagen digestion	Roche	-20 °C
DNAse	DNA degradation	Sigma-Aldrich	4 °C
Hematoxylin	H&E staining	Sigma-Aldrich	RT
Eosin	H&E staining	Sigma-Aldrich	RT
TNBS	Antigen restimulation of cells	Sigma-Aldrich	4 °C
O.C.T compound medium	Tissue embedding	Sakura-Finetek, Netherlands	RT
Mitomycin C	Antigen restimulation of cells	Sigma-Aldrich	4 °C

# Table 2.1.5: Other reagents

# Table 2.1.6: List of laboratory equipment

Name	Manufacturer
Centrifuge (Microfuge 22R)	Beckman Coulter, Germany
Flow cytometer LSR II	BD Biosciences, Germany
Cell Sorter FACS Aria III	BD Biosciences, Germany
Centrifuge 5810 R	Eppendorf, Germany
Laminar Hood (LabGard Class II Biological Safety Cabinet NU-437)	NuAire, USA
Cryostat CM1850	Leica Microsystems, Germany
Direct Heat CO2 Incubator (NU5510/E)	NuAire, USA
Light Microscope Leica DMi1	Leica Microsystems, Germany
Micrometer	Mitutoyo, Leonberg, Germany

Name	Usage	Source
5 ml FACS tube	Flow cytometry	Sarstedt AG & Co.
1,5 ml Eppendorf tube	Flow cytometry	BD Bioscience, Germany
EDTA containing blood collection tube	Flow cytometry	BD Vacutainer, Germany
70 μm cell strainer	Flow cytometry	BD Falcan, Germany
48 well plate	Cell stimulation	Geyer Th. GmbH
Super frost glass slide	Tissue section preparation	Geyer Th. GmbH

#### **Table 2.1.7: List of consumables**

 Table 2.1.8: Software list used for data analysis

Name	Developer
FACS Diva	BD Biosciences, Germany
Flow jo	FlowJo LLC, USA
GraphPad prism	GraphPad Software, Inc, USA

#### **2.2 Mice**

8-12 week old, Female C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratory (Sulzfeld, Germany) and maintained under pathogen-free conditions. Severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) beige mice (121), and depletion of regulatory T cell (DEREG) mice (122) were provided by Prof. Ralf Ludwig, Department of Dermatology, University of Lübeck, Germany. Experiments were performed at the animal facility of University of Lübeck. All animal studies were performed with approval from the respective authorities (Ministry of Energy, Agriculture, the Environment and Rural Areas) and performed by certified personnel.

#### 2.3 Induction of CHS

#### 2.3.1 TNCB-induced CHS model

**Sensitization of mice:** At day 0, the abdomen of mice was shaved manually using a scalpel. The purpose of shaving the abdomen is to facilitate skin contact with the hapten, and ameliorate its penetration into the skin layers. Then,  $100\mu$ l of 3% TNCB dissolved in acetone was applied on the shaved abdomen using a pipette. The role of acetone is to extract lipids from the outer layer of the epidermis called stratum coreneum, this process will cause the disruption of the epidermal barrier and ensure an efficient antigen administration.

**Challenge of mice:** At day 5, the right ear was challenged by applying a total volume of  $20\mu$ l of 1% TNCB dissolved in acetone onto both sides of the ear. As a control, the left ear was painted with acetone alone. Ear swelling reaction was measured 24 h later or at the indicated time points after challenge. In the second challenge experiments, right or left ear was painted with 20 µl of 1% TNCB/acetone 12 days after first challenge, and ear swelling was tracked for the following 5 days.

#### 2.3.2 Model of double CHS induction with TNCB and oxazolone

In this model, a first sensitization was performed by applying 150  $\mu$ l of 3% oxazolone dissolved in ethanol on the shaved back of mice. Fifteen days later, a second sensitization was applied by painting the shaved abdomen with 100  $\mu$ l of 3% TNCB dissolved in acetone. For the challenges, a first challenge was performed by applying a total volume of 20 $\mu$ l of 1% TNCB dissolved in acetone onto both sides of the right ear, and 20 $\mu$ l of 1% oxazolone dissolved in ethanol onto both sides of the left ear. Second challenges were performed respecting the same order 12 days after the first challenge.

#### 2.3.3 Ear swelling measurement

Before each challenge, ear thickness of both ears was measured 3 times using a micrometer, the mean of values obtained is the baseline used for calculating the ear swelling. Twenty four hours after challenge or at indicated time points, ear thickness was measured again 3 times and mean value was calculated. Ear swelling was determined by subtracting the mean value of the ear thickness after challenge from the mean value of the ear thickness measured before challenge.

#### 2.4 Skin irritation

Irritant contact dermatitis is induced following skin irritation by a chemical. The response to this irritation occurs rapidly after irritant exposure to the skin because it's mediated by innate immune cells and established independently of the adaptive immune system. To induce antigennonspecific skin inflammation, 1% of croton oil dissolved in 70% acetone, and 10  $\mu$ l of the mixture was applied onto each side of the right ear of SCID beige mice. The left ear was painted with acetone only and used as control. Twenty four hours later, ear thickness was measured and ear swelling was calculated as previously described in paragraph 2.3.3.

#### 2.5 IL-2/JES6-1 complex treatment

To induce Treg expansion, three injections of IL-2/JES6-1 complexes are needed (123). For each injection, 1  $\mu$ g of recombinant mouse IL-2 was complexed with 5  $\mu$ g of anti-IL-2 monoclonal antibody (clone JES6-1A12). The mixture was diluted in 150  $\mu$ l sterile PBS and incubated for 30 min at 37°C. The injections were performed intraperitoneally (i.p.) on 3 consecutive days (days 0, 1 and 2). PBS injections were used for controls. The i.p. injection was performed using a 27 G needle in the lower quadrant of the abdomen but close to the midline. Injections in the nipples or any harm to the tissue was avoided in order to have a successful i.p. injection.
# 2.6 Diphtheria toxin treatment

DEREG transgenic mice express a diphtheria toxin receptor-enhanced green fluorescent protein (DTR-eGFP) fusion protein under control of the endogenous forkhead box P3 promoter/enhancer regions on the bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) transgene (124). In these mice, fully functional Foxp3<sup>+</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells express DTR-eGFP allowing fluorescent detection and diphtheria toxin-induced depletion of Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells (125). For Treg depletion, DEREG mice were injected i.p. with 1  $\mu$ g of Diphtheria toxin dissolved in 100  $\mu$ l sterile PBS one day before sensitization. DT injection into WT mice was used a control.

### 2.7 Adoptive transfer

LN cell transfer from sensitized donors into naïve recipients is a model used to passively induced CHS in mice. Effector cells are transferred after priming in donor mice, which enables recipients to respond to a challenge after cell transfer within 24 hours. In the adoptive transfer experiment, donor mice were treated with either IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS on days -5, -4 and -3, and sensitized to TNCB on day 0. Five days later, cell suspensions were prepared from draining LNs and injected intravenously in the tail vein into recipient mice ( $2 \times 10^7$  cells/mouse). Recipient mice were treated with either IL-2/JES6-1 complexes or PBS on days 0, 1, 2. The adoptive transfer was performed at day 5. One hour after the adoptive transfer, mice were challenged in the right ear and ear swelling was measured one day later.

# 2.8 In vivo DC migration assay

In order to assess DC accumulation in the skin draining LNs after hapten sensitization, mice were sensitized by applying 20  $\mu$ l of 0.5% FITC dissolved in acetone/ DBP at a ratio of 1:1 on both sides of the ear. FITC is a skin sensitizing fluorochrome permitting its tracking when transported by DCs from the skin to the draining LNs. DBP is used as an adjuvant that augments the ability of topically applied FITC to stimulate the proliferative responses in LNs. Auricular

LNs were removed 24 hours and 48 hours after FITC sensitization, and FITC-bearing DCs cells were assessed using flow cytometry.

## 2.9 Cell isolation from ear tissue

The inflamed ear was split into dorsal and ventral halves using forceps, chopped into small pieces and incubated in 1.2 mg/ml Dispase for one hour at 37°C in a total volume of 2 ml RPMI medium. This step serves at an initial enzymatic digestion resulting in collagen and fibronectin cleavage by proteases and tissue dissociation. Ear skin pieces were then digested using 1 mg/ml collagenase A and 60  $\mu$ g/ml DNAse I for one hour at 37°C. This step permits to further digest the tissue and liberate the cells into the medium. Tissues were passed through a 70  $\mu$ m cell strainer using a 5 ml syringe and washed in 0.5% PBS-BSA. Isolated cells were surface stained for flow cytometry.

#### **2.10 Blood preparation**

Blood was collected from the heart of anesthetized mice by cardiac puncture using a 27 G needle connected to a syringe. Blood was collected in EDTA (anticoagulant) coated tubes. Up to 1 ml of blood can be collected using the cardiac puncture. For red blood cells lysis, blood was transferred into tubes containing 14 ml of 1X RBC lysis buffer (pre-diluted in water) and incubated in the dark at 4 °C for 10 min with gentle agitation every two minutes. Blood was then centrifuged at 300 g for 10 min. The supernatant was removed and cells were washed with 0.5% PBS-BSA buffer. Cells were then ready for flow cytometry.

### 2.11 H&E staining

Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining is a standard diagnosis method used in histology. Hematoxylin alone is not technically a dye, it is therefore coupled with aluminum salts. The complex acts as a basic dye positively charged and can react with negatively charged, basophilic

cell components, such as nucleic acids in the nucleus resulting in a blue stain. The nuclear staining is followed by counterstaining with an aqueous Eosin solution. Eosin is anionic, acts as an acidic dye and therefore reacts with positively charged, acidophilic components in the tissue coloring them in red/pink.

To perform H&E staining of ear tissue, 5 µm sections of frozen tissue were generated using Cryostat CM1850, and sections were collected in super frost glass slides. Sections were dried overnight at RT and then fixed in ice cold acetone/ethanol 1:1 for 10 min. Tissue sections were washed with 1X PBS three times for 5 min, then stained with hematoxylin in a jar for 10 min. Sections were washed with 1X PBS twice for 5 min and with water for 3 min. Eosin staining was performed by dipping the slides into a jar full of 1% eosin for 1-2 min. Slides were quickly washed in water for 30 seconds and then dipped in 50% ethanol, 70% ethanol, and 96% ethanol for 30 seconds each. Tissue sections were then incubated in xylene for 5 min, then slides were cleaned and mounted with entellan and coverslip.

# 2.12 Hapten-specific CD8 T cell detection

Auricular and axillary LNs were isolated at indicated time points and single cell suspension was prepared, washed, and resuspended in RPMI media supplemented with 10% FCS (Fetal Calf Serum), 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin and 0,1%  $\beta$ -Mercaptoethanol. To prepare hapten-loaded APCs, a single cell suspension was prepared from spleen of naïve mice and were used as source for APCs. Splenic cells were then treated with mitomycin C for 30 min at 37 °C to inhibit their mitotic activation, and washed with warm media. In order to load APCs with the allergen, 3 mM of 2,4,6-Trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid (TNBS) was added and cells were incubated for 7 min at 37°C. TNBS is a water soluble analog of TNCB and therefore is used for *in vitro* stimulation of cells. Splenic cells were washed and resuspended in the same media. For LN cells restimulation in vitro, 10<sup>7</sup> LN cells were mixed with 10<sup>7</sup> TNBS-modified splenic cells in a 48 well-plate (total volume of 1 ml), and incubated at 37°C for a total of 5 hours.

Brefeldin A was added for the last 4 hours. Cells were harvested and stained intracellularly for IFN- $\gamma$ .

#### 2.13 Flow cytometry

#### **2.13.1** Surface staining

Single cell suspension was prepared from spleen or LNs in PBS-BSA, and approximately 1 million cells were used for staining. Cells were first centrifuged at 300 g for 10 min. In order to block non-specific binding of staining antibodies to Fc receptors, 50  $\mu$ l of anti-CD16/CD32 (Fc $\gamma$ R block) antibody with a concentration of 10  $\mu$ g/ml was added to the cells and incubated for 10 min on ice. Fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies in a concentration of 2-5  $\mu$ g/ml were prepared in 50  $\mu$ l PBS-BSA and added to the cells. The cocktail was kept in the dark on ice for 10-15 min, and the staining was stopped by adding 1 ml PBS-BSA. Cells were then centrifuged at 300 g for 10 min (4 °C), resuspended in 300  $\mu$ l PBS-BSA, and acquired in the flow cytometer LSR II.

# 2.13.2 Intracellular staining

Intracellular staining was used in this thesis to detect cytokines in T and B cells. For this purpose, freshly isolated cells were first stimulated for five hours and intracellular staining was performed. First, single cell suspensions were prepared from spleen or LNs. Cells were then centrifuges at 300 g for 10 min, and resuspended in RPMI media containing 10% FCS, 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin and 0,1%  $\beta$ -Mercaptoethanol. To prepare the stimulation master mix, phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) (a specific activator of kinase C), ionomycin (an ionophore that triggers calcium release) were added to RPMI media at a final concentration of 500 ng/ml. For B cell stimulation, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) was also added (10 µg/ml, final concentration). To prepare the cell culture, 10<sup>7</sup> cells suspended in 500 µl of media were mixed with 500 µl of the stimulation mix in a 48 well plate and incubated at 37 °C for 5 hours. Brefeldin A (inhibits protein transport from the endoplasmic reticulum to the Golgi apparatus,

2 mM final concentration) was added for the last 3 hours of culture. Unstimulated cells were used as control. After the 5 hour stimulation, cells were harvested from each well into Eppendorf tubes and centrifuged at 300 g for 10 min. Surface staining was performed as described above (paragraph 2.13.1). After surface staining, cells were fixed with 100  $\mu$ l of Biolegend fixation buffer for 20 min at RT. 100  $\mu$ l of Biolegend intracellular staining permeabilization wash buffer was added to the cells for 20 min at RT. Cells were centrifuged at 350 g for 10 min and the supernatant was discarded. After this permeabilization step, cells were stained intracellularly with the fluorescently labeled monoclonal antibodies against the desired cytokines for 15 min at 4 °C. Cells were washed again with Perm/Wash buffer as before and resuspended in 300  $\mu$ l PBS-BSA. Cells were acquired in a flow cytometer.

#### 2.13.3 Treg staining

Foxp3 is a master regulator of the development and function of Tregs. It is considered as a key marker used to identify Tregs by flow cytometry. Being a transcription regulator, Foxp3 is present in the nucleus and therefore its detection requires the permeabilization of the nuclear membrane. First, single cell suspension was prepared ( $10^7$  cells/ sample) and surface staining was performed as described in paragraph 2.13.1. For Treg staining, cells were fixed with 200 µl of 1X Fix/Perm solution (pre-diluted in PBS) for 20 min in the dark at RT. Cells were first washed with PBS-BSA and centrifuged at 300 g for 10 min, a second washing step was performed using 200 µl of 1X Foxp3 Perm buffer (pre-diluted in PBS). Cells were resuspended in the Foxp3 Perm buffer and incubated in the dark for 15 min at RT. After permeabilization, cells were centrifuged at 300 g for 10 min and resuspended in 100 µl Foxp3 Perm buffer containing anti-mouse Foxp3, anti-mouse CTLA-4, and anti-mouse Helios antibodies in a concentration of 2-5 µg/ml. After 45 min incubation in the dark at 4 °C, cells were washed with PBS-BSA and resuspended in 300 µl PBS-BSA. Cells were then analyzed by flow cytometry.

# 2.14 Data analysis

# 2.14.1 Flow cytometry data analysis

During sample measurement, cell acquirement and event recording was done using FACSDiva software. FCS files (3.0 version) were exported from the FACSDiva software and analyzed using flow jo software. All gates were set according to isotype controls. Compensation was used to reduce signal spillover between the emission spectra of two fluorochromes.

# 2.14.2 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of data was performed using GraphPad Prism. Unpaired two-sided Student's t test was used. \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001 and \*\*\*\* P < 0.0001. In case of bar plots, data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD.

#### **3 RESULTS**

# 3.1 IL-2/JES6-1 treatment expands endogenous Tregs in vivo

Depletion of Tregs results in enhanced and sustained ear swelling following CHS induction (126). In contrast, adoptive transfer of CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>+</sup> Tregs either before sensitization or before challenge strongly suppresses CHS-mediated ear swelling by blocking effector cell influx into inflamed skin (92), suggesting that these cells exhibit the capacity to control CHS-mediated inflammation. However, it is not clear whether *in vivo* induction of Treg populations will suppress the response to an antigen-specific skin allergy. In order to address this issue, mice were treated either with IL-2/JES6-1 complexes or PBS (as controls). Subsequently, CHS was induced by local application of TNCB.

# 3.1.1 IL-2/JES6-1 injection before sensitization efficiently suppresses CHS

In order to reach maximal Treg induction at the time of sensitization, mice were treated with injections of IL-2/JES6-1 on three consecutive days starting on day -5, then mice were sensitized on day 0, challenged on day 5, and analyzed 24 hours after challenge. The scheme of this treatment regimen is shown below (Figure 3.1). Later in this thesis, this particular treatment regimen will be called IL-2/JES6-1 BS. As expected, Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cell frequencies and numbers were increased in spleen and LNs on day 0 in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice compared with PBS treated controls (Figure 3.2). This expansion was no longer observed on day 6, which is in accordance with previous findings showing that IL-2/JES6-1 treatment induces a rapid and systemic, but only transient Treg expansion that vanishes within few days (127). Notably, IL-2/JES6-1 treatment strongly reduced ear swelling after challenge (Figure 3.3).



**Figure 3.1: Scheme of CHS induction and treatment regimen before sensitization.** Mice were injected with either IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS on days -5, -4 and -3, and sensitized with TNCB on day 0 as indicated. On day 5, the right ear was challenged with TNCB while the left ear was treated with vehicle. Ear swelling was measured on day 6. Analysis of Treg frequencies and cell counts were analyzed on days 0 and 6.



Figure 3.2: Rapid and transient expansion of Tregs upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. (a) FACS analysis of Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells on days 0 and 6 after sensitization (IL-2/JES6-1 BS = IL-2/JES6-1 complexes treated before sensitization; PBS = control group) in spleen (SP) and pooled (axillary and auricular) LNs. Cells were gated on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. (b) Treg cell numbers in spleen (right data plot) and lymph nodes (left data plot). Data are pooled from at least two independent experiments (n= 4-6), \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001, and \*\*\*\*P < 0.0001 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test). Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD.



Figure 3.3: IL-2/JES6-1 injection before sensitization results in CHS suppression. Ear thickness was measured before challenge (used as baseline) and 24 hours post-challenge, and mean of ear swelling was calculated. Data show the increase in ear thickness compared to the value before challenge. Data are pooled from at least two independent experiments (n= 4-6), \*\*\*\*P < 0.0001 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test). Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD.

# 3.1.2 IL-2/JES6-1 treatment expands both nTregs and pTregs

Several studies have shown that IL-2/JES6-1 leads to *in vivo* Treg expansion (117, 127, 128). However, it had remained unclear if this treatment selectively affects nTregs or pTregs, or both. To address this issue, Treg subsets were distinguished by Helios and Nrp-1 expression. Interestingly, Both Nrp-1<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> T cells and Nrp-1<sup>-</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> T cells were expanded in spleen and LNs upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment (Figure 3.4), Suggesting that both nTreg and pTreg populations were systemically affected by this treatment. To ensure that Nrp-1<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> T cells represent nTregs, their Helios expression was analyzed by flow cytometry. Nrp-1 expression by Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells strictly correlated with Helios expression (Figure 3.5), which is in accordance with the previous findings reported in literature (80).



**Figure 3.4: Induction of nTregs and pTregs upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment.** Mice were treated as shown in figure 3.1 and Treg subsets were analyzed. (a) FACS analysis of nTregs and pTregs using Nrp-1 on days 0 and 6 after sensitization (IL-2/JES6-1 BS = IL-2/JES6-1 complexes treated before sensitization; PBS = control group) in spleen (SP) and pooled (axillary and auricular) lymph nodes (LNs). Cells were gated on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. (b) nTreg and pTreg cell numbers in spleen. n= 6, \*\*\*P < 0.001 and \*\*\*\*P < 0.0001 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test). Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.



**Figure 3.5: Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Nrp-1<sup>+</sup> Tregs co-express Helios.** Mice were treated as shown in figure 3.1, and Treg subsets were analyzed at day 0. Histogram plot shows Helios expression of Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Nrp-1<sup>+</sup> cells.

# 3.1.3 Characterization of the suppressive capacity of IL-2/JES6-1 expanded Tregs

Tregs expanded following IL-2/JES6-1 injections were further analyzed for the antiinflammatory cytokine TGF- $\beta$  and activation marker CTLA-4. The first form synthesized of TGF- $\beta$  is called pro-TGF- $\beta$  which will be cleaved resulting in latency-associate peptide (LAP). TGF- $\beta$  production by Tregs was measured by analyzing LAP-1 expression which reflects the latency-associate peptide of the isoform TGF- $\beta$  1. Before sensitization (day 0), TGF- $\beta$ expressing Tregs are present in small numbers in spleen and LNs. Upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment, Treg populations were approximately 10-fold expanded. Interestingly, about 2-fold increased numbers of TGF- $\beta^+$  Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs were observed on day 6 in the absence of IL-2/JES6-1 treatment after hapten challenge in the PBS treated controls, indicating that hapten exposure itself stimulated Treg expansion (Figure 3.6). Similarly, CTLA-4<sup>+</sup> Treg cell populations were also affected by IL-2/JES6-1 treatment and were approximately 10-fold expanded on day 0. Again, those cells were already increased in numbers in PBS treated mice on day 6 after challenge (Figure 3.7), but to a much lower extent compared with the IL-2/JES6-1 treated

group. Expression levels of CTLA-4 in individual Foxp $3^+$  Treg cells was upregulated in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice (Figure 3.8). These data indicate that TGF- $\beta$  and CTLA-4 might be involved in controlling CHS-mediated inflammation via IL-2/JES6-1.



Figure 3.6: Increased numbers of LAP-1<sup>+</sup> Tregs in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice. Mice were sensitized and challenged by TNCB on days 0 and 5, respectively. Before sensitization, mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 complexes. Cell numbers were calculated following flow cytometric analysis of LAP-1<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs in spleen (left panel) and lymph nodes (right panel). Data are representative of at least two independent experiments (n= 4-6), \*\*P < 0.01 and \*\*\*\*P < 0.0001 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test). Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD.



Figure 3.7: Expansion of CTLA-4<sup>+</sup> Tregs in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice. Mice were sensitized and challenged by TNCB on days 0 and 5, respectively. Before sensitization, mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 complexes. Cell numbers were calculated following flow cytometric analysis of CTLA-4<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs in spleen (left panel) and LNs (right panel). Data are representative of at least two independent experiments (n= 4-6), \*\*P < 0.01 and \*\*\*\*P < 0.0001 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD.



**Figure 3.8: Up-regulation of CTLA-4**+ **by Tregs after IL-2/JES6-1 treatment.** CTLA-4 expression by Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs in spleen after IL-2/JES6-1 injection before sensitization (day 0). Data shown are gated on Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs and are representative of two independent experiments (n= 4-6).

# 3.1.4 Increased IL-10 expression by CD4 T cells in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice

Previous studies have demonstrated that CD8 T cells are the effector cells in murine contact sensitivity while CD4 T cells play a regulatory role mainly by IL-10 secretion (62–64). The effect of IL-2/JES6-1 treatment before sensitization on CD4 T cells was investigated. Flow cytometry analysis show that IL-10 expression by CD4 T cells was elevated following IL-2/JES6-1 injection in spleen and LNs. It is of note that the IL-10 increase was more pronounced in spleen. A slight increase of IL-10 expressing CD4 T cell numbers was also observed in PBS treated mice after challenge (Figure 3.9), confirming the involvement of CD4 T cells in CHS regulation by IL-10 production.



Figure 3.9: Induction of IL-10 expression by CD4 T cells upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. Mice were treated as shown in figure 3.1 and IL-10 expression by CD4 T cells was analyzed. (a) Flow cytometry analysis of IL-10 expressing CD4 T cells on days 0 and 6 after sensitization (BS = IL-2/JES6-1 treated before sensitization; PBS = control group) in spleen (SP) and pooled (axillary and auricular) lymph nodes (LNs). Cells were gated on CD4+ T cells. (b) IL-10+ CD4 T cells counts in spleen. n= 6, \*\*\*P < 0.001 and \*\*\*\*P < 0.0001 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test). Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

#### 3.2 Treg expansion before the challenge phase results in CHS suppression

During challenge, previously primed T cells are activated in the skin and the draining LNs, which makes their recruitment to the site of hapten exposure as fast as 24 hours after hapten challenge (129, 130). To examine the impact of the IL-2/JES6-1 treatment on Tregs and CHS when injected after sensitization but before challenge (IL-2/JES6-1 BC), mice were sensitized on day 0 and IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS injections were given on days 0, 1, and 2. On day 5, challenge was performed on the right ear, while the left ear was treated with vehicle (Acetone alone). Ear swelling measurement was performed 24 hours after challenge (Figure 3.10). Again, a reduction in ear swelling was observed in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice before challenge. Numbers of nTregs and pTregs were still increased on day 6 upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment, suggesting that haptensensitization does not disturb Treg expansion upon IL-2/JES6-1 injections. Likewise, IL-10<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cell numbers were increased after IL-2/JES6-1 treatment before the challenge phase (Figure 3.11). There was no significant difference in TGF- $\beta^+$  Treg counts between IL-2/JES6-1 BC and PBS treated groups, Tregs expressing TGF- $\beta$  mainly resemble nTregs (Figure 3.12). CTLA-4 expression was also upregulated on Tregs in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice. Interestingly, CTLA-4<sup>+</sup> Tregs observed following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment were mostly pTregs (Figure 3.13).



Figure 3.10: IL-2/JES6-1 treatment before challenge efficiently suppresses CHS. (a) Scheme of treatment schedule used for Treg induction before challenge. (b) Mean of ear swelling 24 hours post challenge. (c) Total Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cell numbers in spleen on day 6. (d) Cell counts of nTregs and pTregs in spleen on day 6. Data are compiled from at least two independent experiments n= 5-6, \*\*\*P < 0.001 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test). Data are shown as mean ± SD.



Figure 3.11: Augmented IL-10 expression by CD4 T cells in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice before challenge. Mice were treated as shown in figure 3.10 and IL-10<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cell numbers were analyzed on day 6. \*\*P < 0.01 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD.



Figure 3.12: TGF- $\beta$  expressing Tregs remain unaffected by IL-2/JES6-1 treatment before challenge. Mice were treated as shown in figure 3.10 and TGF- $\beta^+$  Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs were analyzed on day 6. (a) TGF- $\beta^+$  Treg numbers in spleen. (b) Gating strategy for analysis of Nrp-1 and Helios expression in LAP-1<sup>+</sup> Tregs (quadrants were set according to isotype control). Dot plot of the left image was gated on CD4 T cells. Data are presented as mean ± SD, n= 4-5.



Figure 3.13: Characterization of CTLA-4+ Tregs following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. (a) Numbers of CTLA-4 expressing Tregs. (b) CTLA-4 expression by nTregs and pTregs on day 6. Data shown are gated on Nrp-1<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> and Nrp-1<sup>-</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs for nTregs and pTregs, respectively. \*P < 0.05, n= 4-5 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test). Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD.

#### 3.3 Effects of IL-2/JES6-1 treatment on leukocyte infiltration into inflamed skin

Neutrophils start accumulating in the skin 6 hours after challenge, followed by lymphocytes within 12 hours after challenge, which leads to an extensive neutrophil and T cell infiltration 24 hours post-challenge (59). To investigate the effect of IL-2/JES6-1 treatment on inflamed skin, histology of the ears was analyzed, and effector cell infiltration into the affected skin was inspected.

# **3.3.1** IL-2/JES6-1 treatment results in reduced neutrophil and CD8 T cell infiltration into challenged skin

Histological analysis of ear sections showed a general decrease in cell infiltration in groups treated with IL-2/JES6-1 either before sensitization or before challenge compared with the PBS controls (Figure 3.14). These results confirm the anti-inflammatory effects of the IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. In addition to CD8 T cells, neutrophils represent potent effector cells during both sensitization and challenge in CHS (56, 57). To test the effect of IL-2/JES6-1 treatment on neutrophil and CD8 T cell infiltration, these cells were quantified in ear tissue after challenge, and in blood. CHS induction as such did not alter neutrophil frequencies in blood 24 hours after sensitization. However, when mice were treated before sensitization (Figure 3.15). In skin, neutrophil frequencies were reduced in this tissue 24 hours post-sensitization (Figure 3.15). In skin, neutrophil frequencies were decreased 24 hours after challenge following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment (Figure 3.15). Additionally, CD8 T cell frequencies were reduced in IL-2/JES6-1 treatment (Figure 3.15). Additionally, CD8 T cell frequencies were reduced in IL-2/JES6-1 treatment treated groups before sensitization and before challenge (Figure 3.16). These results demonstrate that IL-2/JES6-1 treatment results in decreased infiltration of effector cells into the inflamed skin.



**Figure 3.14: Reduced cellular influx in challenged skin following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment.** Representative histological sections of 5 µm after hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining (200x magnification). Tissue sections were prepared from inflamed ears 24 hours after challenge.



**Figure 3.15: Effect of IL-2/JES6-1 on neutrophils.** Mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 either before sensitization or before challenge and neutrophils were analyzed. (a) Neutrophil frequencies in blood in naïve or sensitized mice 24 hours after sensitization (left panel). Neutrophil frequencies in blood in IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS treated mice 24 hours after sensitization (right panel). (b) Flow cytometry analysis of neutrophils in ear tissue 24 hours after challenge (left panel), cells were pregated on singlets. Percentage of neutrophils in ear tissue (right panel). \*\*P < 0.01 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test), n=4-6. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD.



Figure 3.16: Reduced CD8 T cell accumulation in the skin upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. Mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 either before sensitization or before challenge and CD8 T cells were analyzed, PBS controls received PBS injections using the same schedule as IL-2/JES6-1 BS group. Frequencies of CD8 T cells in ear tissue 24 hours after challenge. n= 5-6, \*\*\*P < 0.001 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test). Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

# 3.3.2 Increased Treg frequencies in inflamed skin following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment

Tregs are the most important suppressor cells during CHS-mediated inflammation. Tregs migrate to the inflamed tissue upon challenge, and migrate back to the skin draining LNs, these circulating Tregs have the capacity to migrate back to the skin (98). It has been shown that these Tregs express high levels of CTLA-4 and have potent suppressive activities (98). To examine the effect of IL-2/JES6-1 on Treg cells in the skin, Tregs were analyzed in ear tissue 24 hours after challenge. In ears, Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells were increased in both groups that received IL-2/JES6-1 treatment (Figure 3.17). Notably, 100% of Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs found in the skin were CTLA-4<sup>+</sup> (Figure 3.17). This molecule has been shown to be very important for Treg mediated suppression of effector T cells (131). These data show that IL-2/JES6-1 treatment supports the presence of suppressor cells in inflamed tissue.



**Figure 3.17: IL-2/JES6-1 treatment results in increased Treg frequencies in inflamed skin.** Mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 either before sensitization or before challenge and CHS was induced. PBS controls received PBS injections using the same schedule as IL-2/JES6-1 BS group. Tregs were analyzed in skin 24 hours after challenge. (a) Flow cytometry analysis of Tregs in ears, cells were gated on CD4 T cells (left panel). Treg frequencies detected in ear tissue (right panel). (b) CTLA-4 expression by Tregs found in the skin. \*P < 0.05, n= 5 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test). Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD.

#### 3.4 IL-2/JES6-1 effect on neutrophils is lymphocyte-dependent

In order to test whether IL-2/JES6-1 can affect neutrophil-mediated skin inflammation directly, or via T cells, SCID mice were used. SCID mice are characterized by the absence of T and B cells, which makes them a good tool for this purpose. However, induction of CD8 T cell-mediated CHS wouldn't be possible in these mice. To resolve this issue, antigen-nonspecific skin irritation was induced using croton oil as a model of irritant contact dermatitis. This cutaneous irritation is characterized by the activation of the innate immune system and skin barrier disruption after contact to chemicals. Neutrophils and eosinophils are the main populations that infiltrate the affected skin after chemical exposure, while basophiles have a regulatory role in this process (132, 133). In the absence of lymphocytes, induction of non-specific skin irritation showed similar neutrophil infiltration in both IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice and PBS controls (Figure 3.18). Moreover, ear swelling was similar between these two groups (Figure 3.18), indicating that the inhibitory effect of IL-2/JES6-1 on neutrophil recruitment depends on lymphocytes. These data are in accordance with the idea that IL-2/JES6-1 complexes stimulate Tregs selectively, which leads to the hypothesis that the observed effect of IL-2/JES6-1 on neutrophils might be mediated by Tregs.



**Figure 3.18: IL-2/JES6-1 does not affect neutrophils directly.** SCID beige mice were treated on days -5, -4, and -3 with IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS, and skin irritation was induced using croton oil on day 0. (a) Neutrophils frequency in ears 24 hours after skin irritation (b) Ear swelling at 24 h after skin irritation.

### 3.5 Foxp3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells mediate IL-2/JES6-1 induced CHS suppression

Despite the numerous studies showing that IL-2/JES6-1 selectively expands Tregs and improves different inflammatory diseases, there was no clear evidence that these observed ameliorations are Treg-dependent. Recent data have shown that IL-2/JES6-1 can affect dermal innate lymphoid cells type 2, their activation leads to an increase in IL-5 production, which causes eosinophilia (134, 135). Taken together, IL-2/JES6-1 complexes might also have a direct effect on innate lymphoid cells, and thus indirectly affect eosinophils. Consequently, it was necessary to identify the cells that are responsible for CHS suppression after IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. To assess the role of Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs in TNCB-induced CHS suppression after IL-2/JES6-1 treatment, DEREG mice were analyzed. These mice express a diphtheria toxin receptor under the control of the Foxp3 promoter, allowing effective and selective Treg depletion (122). DEREG mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 before sensitization, and Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs were depleted one day before sensitization (Figure 3.19). 24 hours after DT injection, Tregs were depleted from blood (Figure 3.19). Treg frequencies were still reduced even 7 days later in LNs (Figure 3.19). Ear swelling on day 6 revealed that the CHS response was completely restored in Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg depleted mice. In addition, Neutrophil infiltration into the inflamed ear tissue was similar to PBS treated controls, and Treg frequencies were decreased (Figure 3.20). These observations demonstrate that Tregs are essential for IL-2/JES6-1 mediated suppression of CHS.



Figure 3.19: Depletion of Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs following diphtheria toxin injection. DEREG or WT mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS before sensitization and Tregs were deleted by DT injection before CHS was induced. (a) Treatment regimen used in DEREG mice. (b) Percentage of Foxp3+ Tregs in blood on day 0 (left panel). Frequency of Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs in LNs on day 6 (right panel). Data are depicted as mean  $\pm$  SD (n= 3-8 mice per group) \*\*P < 0.01 and \*\*\*\*P < 0.0001.



Figure 3.20: Treg depletion restores the CHS response in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice. DEREG or WT mice were treated as described in Figure 3.19. (a) Mean of ear swelling 24 hours post-challenge. (b) Frequencies of neutrophils and Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs in inflamed ear tissue on day 6. Data are depicted as mean  $\pm$  SD (n= 5-8 mice per group) \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001, and \*\*\*\*P < 0.0001.

# 3.6 IL-2/JES6-1 treatment affects CHS via multiple mechanisms

During the last decade, several studies have focused on the role of Tregs during CHS, as well as their localization in inflamed skin and LNs (91, 98, 136). However, the effect of Tregs on CD8 T effect cell priming remains ambiguous. To investigate if IL-2/JES6-1 can restrain the priming of effector cells in LNs during sensitization, and/or the effector functions after challenge, adoptive transfer of LN cells from sensitized mice was used as passive model for CHS. Donor mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS before sensitization to TNCB. Five days later, skin draining LN cells were isolated and subsequently injected intravenously into recipient mice. Before challenge, recipients were either treated with IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS. Ear swelling measurement revealed a reduction in the CHS response in mice that received LN cells from IL-2/JES6-1 treated donors. CHS was also suppressed in recipients treated with IL-2/JES6-1 before challenge (Figure 3.21). These results show that Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg expansion via IL-2/JES6-1 treatment can suppress CHS reactions through two mechanisms: Inhibition of effector cell priming during sensitization, and by suppressing the effector phase after challenge.



Figure 3.21: IL-2/JES6-1 treatment suppresses sensitization and challenge phases of CHS. Donor mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS and sensitized with TNCB. Five days later, inguinal and axillary LN cells were isolated, pooled and adoptively transferred into recipient mice which were challenged one hour after the adoptive transfer. The ear swelling 24 hours post challenge is relative to basal ear thickness before CHS induction and is presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (n= 4 mice per group).

# 3.7 IL-2/JES6-1 expanded Tregs down-regulate CD86 expression by dendritic cells

DCs are responsible for antigen uptake, transport and subsequent presentation to T cells in LNs. In order to examine the effect of IL-2/JES6-1 on antigen transport by DCs during the sensitization phase, a different CHS model was induced using FITC as a contact sensitizer. Following skin sensitization, this fluorescent hapten allows its tracking in tissues and on individual antigen-presenting cells. Mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS on days -5, -4, and -3 and ear skin was sensitized with FITC on day 0. Auricular LNs were analyzed on days 1 and 2. Localization of hapten-bearing DCs in LNs was assessed by flow cytometry. Twenty four hours after sensitization, 8-10% of FITC-bearing DCs were observed in LNs. Cell frequencies of FITC<sup>+</sup> CD11c<sup>+</sup> DCs were not altered by IL-2/JES6-1 (Figure 3.22). Additionally, CD80 and CD86 expression by these cells was similar in IL-2/JES6-1 treated group and PBS controls (Figure 3.22). When analyzed at 48 hours post-sensitization, higher frequencies of FITC<sup>+</sup> CD11c<sup>+</sup> DCs were detected in LNs. Hence, suggesting that DC accumulation in LNs was not affected by the IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. However, CD86 expression by FITC-bearing DCs was reduced 48 hours post-sensitization in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice compared to controls, while CD80 expression remained similar between the two groups (Figure 3.22). These data suggest that IL-2/JES6-1 treatment does not affect DC accumulation in draining LNs but modulates DC maturation which is important for T cell priming in LNs.



Figure 3.22: Down-regulation of CD86 by DCs in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice. Mice were sensitized with FITC, and LNs were harvested 24 and 48 hours later. (a) Frequencies of FITC bearing DCs among MHCII<sup>hi</sup> DCs in auricular LNs 24 and 48 hours after skin sensitization. Cells were gated on CD11c<sup>+</sup> MHCII<sup>hi</sup> DCs and FITC<sup>+</sup> DC were analyzed. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (b) Representative examples for CD80 and CD86 expression by FITC<sup>+</sup> DCs at 24 and 48 hours post-sensitization. (c) Frequencies of CD80<sup>+</sup> FITC-bearing DCs (left data plot) and CD86<sup>+</sup> FITC-bearing DCs (right data plot) at 24 and 48 hours post-sensitization. Cells were gated on FITC<sup>+</sup> CD11c<sup>+</sup> MHCII<sup>hi</sup> cells. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD.

# **3.8** CHS suppression by Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg expansion is long-lasting and not restricted to the originally inflamed tissue

To better characterize the Treg-mediated CHS suppression upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment, different aspects were investigated: The duration of suppression upon repeated challenges, the limitation of this suppression to originally affected skin, and its antigen-specificity.

#### 3.8.1 Long-term CHS suppression following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment

Allergic contact dermatitis is a skin disease that only occurs after repeated exposures to the same allergen. Using the IL-2/JES6-1 experimental therapy, it is necessary to test its effect on a second challenge applied long after the IL-2/JES6-1 injection. Therefore the duration of the immunosuppressive effect of IL-2/JES6-1 treatment was investigated. Mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 either before sensitization or before challenge, and CHS was induced. Control groups received 3 PBS injections on days -5, -4, and -3. When the ear swelling was resolved 12 days after the first challenge, the same ear received a second challenge (Figure 3.23). In control groups, the second challenge induced a more pronounced ear swelling than after the first challenge. Groups treated with IL-2/JES6-1 either before sensitization or before sensitization or before sensitization or before sensitization or before sensitization for at least 5 days after the second challenge, i.e. 22 days after the last injection of IL-2/JES6-1 (Figure 3.23). Hence, the therapeutic effect of the IL 2/JES6-1 expanded Tregs is not limited to the acute treatment period, but lasts for weeks, at least.


Figure 3.23: Treg expansion by IL-2/JES6-1 results in long-term CHS suppression. (a) Scheme of BS and BC treatment regiments for IL-2/JES6-1 injections and TNCB challenges. IL-2/JES6-1 was injected either before sensitization (BS) or before challenge (BC). PBS controls received three injection on days -5, -4, and -3. Both challenges were performed on the right ear. (b) Kinetics of ear swelling after first and second challenge of the same ear. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM and representative of one out of two independent experiments (n=5). \* reflects BS vs PBS and + reflects BC vs PBS. \*/+P < 0.05, \*\*/++P < 0.01, and \*\*\*\*/++++ P < 0.0001.

#### 3.8.2 CHS suppression by IL-2/JES6-1 is not limited to originally affected skin

In order to address whether the long-lasting effect observed in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice following a second challenge is limited to the site of original inflammation, mice received the same treatment regimen shown in figure 3.23. However, the first challenge was performed on the right ear while the second challenge was applied on the left ear, which was not challenged before. As indicated by the time course of the ear swelling, IL-2/JES6-1 also suppressed the inflammation on the ear that had not previously yielded an inflammatory response (Figure 3.24). These results suggest that the suppressive effect of IL-2/JES6-1 is not only localized in the site of original inflammation, and that expanded Tregs by IL-2/JES6-1 might induce a systemic suppression of CHS.



**Figure 3.24: IL-2/JES6-1 mediates a systemic CHS suppression.** Mice were treated using the treatment regimen shown in Figure 3.23, except that the second challenge was performed on the left ear. Data show the ear swelling at 24 and 48 hours after the second challenge. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=5). \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001 and \*\*\*\* P < 0.001.

#### 3.8.3 In vivo expanded Tregs control CHS in an antigen-specific manner

To determine if IL-2/JES6-1 treatment during sensitization to TNCB will also suppress CHS to a different allergen, on day -15 mice were first sensitized to oxazolone, and 15 days later to TNCB. On days -5, -4, and -3 i.e. when sensitization to oxazolone was already established, but before sensitization to TNCB, mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 (Figure 3.25). According to the results described above, this treatment regimen leads to maximum expansion of Treg populations at the time of the TNCB sensitization, which means that sensitization to oxazolone was established in the absence of expanded Tregs. Subsequently, the right ear was challenged with TNCB and the left with oxazolone. Once the ear swelling was resolved 12 days after these first challenges, each ear received a second challenge with the same antigen. Notably, CHS response to TNCB was suppressed after the second challenge, whereas there was no significant difference in the ear swelling in response to oxazolone between IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice and PBS controls (Figure 3.25). In conclusion, IL 2/JES6-1 induces a long-lasting effect that is not limited to previously inflamed tissues, but which is specific for allergens that induce an acute response at the time of the treatment.



**Figure 3.25: Treg expansion induces an antigen-specific suppression of CHS.** Mice were sensitized to oxazolone, and IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS was injected 10, 11, and 12 days later. On day 0, mice were sensitized to TNCB. For the challenges on day 5, the right ear received TNCB and the left ear was painted with oxazolone. The same order was respected when applying the second challenge. (a) Scheme of treatments regimen used. (b) Ear swelling measured 48 hours after the second challenge. Data are displayed as mean  $\pm$  SD, n=5 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test). \*\*\* P < 0.001.

## 3.9 In vivo Treg expansion results in prolonged reduction of hapten-specific IFN- $\gamma^+$ CD8 T cells in favor of increased populations of IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$ producing T cells

To investigate the effects of IL-2/JES6-1 on effector cells driving CHS inflammation in skin draining LNs. Hapten-specific CD8 T cells and suppressor Tregs were assessed.

#### 3.9.1 Decrease of hapten-specific CD8 T cells in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice

IFN-y producing CD8 T cells are considered to be the main effector cells in the CHS inflammatory response (64, 137), which makes the establishment of reliable and precise methods to detect hapten-reactive CD8 T cells very essential. A common method used for this purpose is the enzyme-linked immunospot (ELISPOT). This technique uses the functional properties of activated T cells to detect the presence and measure the frequency of antigenspecific T cells following *in vitro* restimulation with the antigen. The minimum duration of restimulation that is sufficient to allow detection of antigen-specific T cells is 24 hours. In the TNCB-induced CHS model, this short-term stimulation results in selective cytokine secretion by TNP-specific T cells which can be detected by ELISPOT. In order to allow further analysis of the hapten-specific T cells, this assay was modified by reducing the *in vitro* restimulation time to 5 hours and substitution of the ELISPOT assay by flow cytometric analysis of IFN- $\gamma$ expression. Compared to controls, IL-2/JES6-1 treated groups showed a considerable reduction of hapten reactive IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD8 T cells (Figure 3.26). This reduction was still detectable on day 12 after the second challenge. In contrast, total IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD8 T cells were not altered in all groups, indicating that IL-2/JES6-1 treatment acts specifically on hapten-specific IFN-y producing CD8 T cells without affecting total IFN-y production in the system. As shown in DEREG mice, the IL-2/JES6-1 induced reduction of hapten-specific IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD8 T cells was dependent on Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs (Figure 3.26). These data show that Treg expansion induced a persistent reduction in hapten-specific CD8 T cells.



Figure 3.26: Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs selectively reduce hapten-specific CD8 T cells. (a) Mice were treated as shown in figure 3.23, and IFN- $\gamma$  expression was analyzed in hapten-specific CD8 T cells in pooled (auricular and axillary) LNs. Dot plots show the gating strategy used to identify hapten-specific IFN- $\gamma$ <sup>+</sup> CD8 T cells after 5 hour re-stimulation with hapten-loaded APCs. Unstimulated controls consisted of LN cells from sensitized mice co-cultured with non-loaded splenic cells from

naïve mice. (b) Kinetics of the frequencies of hapten-specific IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD8 T cells (left panel) and total IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD8 T cells (right panel). (c) DEREG mice and their WT controls were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS, and CHS was induced as shown in figure 3.19. The graph shows cell numbers of hapten-specific IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD8 T cells in LNs one day after challenge. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD n=5-8. \* reflects BS vs PBS and + reflects BC vs PBS. \*/+P < 0.05 and \*\*/++P < 0.01.

## **3.9.2** Increased Treg frequencies reappear in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice long after treatment

IL-2/JES6-1 treatment induced a long-lasting suppression of CHS. It has been previously shown that IL-2/JES6-1 leads to a rapid but transient Treg expansion, which was also confirmed in the presented data. In order to test whether the long-term CHS suppression was associated with a second Treg increase, Treg populations were analyzed after repeated challenges late after the IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. Following a second allergic challenge but in the absence of new IL-2/JES6-1 injections, nTreg and pTreg frequencies were increased even 17 days after the first challenge, i.e. 32 days after the last IL-2/JES6-1 injection, and this increase was associated with higher frequencies of TGF- $\beta^+$  Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs (Figure 3.27). Interestingly, this increase was only detected in skin draining LNs but not in spleen (Figure 3.27). In conclusion, while IL-2/JES6-1 treatment alone induces a transient increase in Treg populations, if combined with allergic challenges, it leads to a re-establishment of expanded Treg populations much later.



Figure 3.27: Increased Tregs were detected in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice after a second challenge. Mice were treated as shown in figure 3.23, and Treg populations were analyzed 5 days after the second challenge. Graphs show frequencies of nTregs, pTregs and LAP-1<sup>+</sup> Tregs in LNs (upper row) and spleen (lower row). Results are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD, n= 6 mice per group. (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test).\*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, and \*\*\*P < 0.001.

#### 3.10 Decrease in regulatory B cells in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice in spleen

The role of B cells in CHS mechanism is controversial. CD19-deficient mice showed enhanced CHS response while human CD19 transgenic mice showed impaired CHS (99). In contrast, B cell knock out mice expressed lower levels of ear swelling compared with their WT controls (138). Additionally, previous studies have shown that Bregs can control the severity of CHS responses via IL-10 production (139). To determine whether IL-2/JES6-1 complexes have an effect on Breg cells, these cells were analyzed. Again, mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS either before sensitization or before challenge, and B cells were analyzed 24 hours after challenge. Numbers of total CD19<sup>+</sup> B cells were not altered in spleen upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. IL-10 expression by these cells was not significantly different from controls (Figure 3.28). Interestingly, IL-2/JES6-1 treatment seems to reduce Breg cell numbers and IL-10 expression by these cells, at least in spleen (Figure 3.28).



Figure 3.28: Reduced Breg numbers following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. Mice were treated with IL-2/JES6-1 or PBS and CHS was induced. Breg cells were identified as  $CD19^+$   $CD5^+$   $CD1d^{hi}$ . Bars represent total  $CD19^+$  B cell (upper row) and Breg (lower row) counts, and their IL-10 expression in spleen 24 hours post-challenge. Data are depicted as mean  $\pm$  SD, n= 4 (two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test). \*P < 0.05.

#### **4 DISCUSSION**

#### 4.1 Overview

In this study, I have demonstrated that injection of IL-2/JES6-1 complexes led to the expansion of both nTregs and pTregs in a model of Tc1 mediated CHS. The experimental therapy using different treatment regimens suppressed CHS-mediated skin inflammation, led to reduced hapten-specific IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD8 T cell frequencies and numbers, and to a lymphocyte-mediated reduced neutrophil influx into the affected skin. IL-2/JES6-1 treatment showed long-lasting suppressive effects, i.e. it attenuated the inflammatory reaction triggered by repeated challenges.

#### 4.2 Tregs are required for IL-2/JES6-1 suppressive effects on skin inflammation

Previously, IL-2/JES6-1 treatment was shown to induce Treg expansion and improvement of multiple diseases with different pathogenic profiles, e.g. Th2-driven allergic asthma (140). It also renders mice resistant to autoimmune encephalomyelitis (123). Likewise, IL-2/JES6-1 inhibited development and progression of atherosclerosis (141, 142). However, to the best of my knowledge, it had not been formally shown that Treg expansion is indeed the crucial mechanism by which IL-2/JES6-1 treatment suppresses these inflammatory conditions. In the present study, the effect of IL-2/JES6-1 treatment on Tc1-induced CHS in which CD8 T cells and neutrophils are crucial effector cells was tested. Various IL-2/JES6-1 treatment regimens showed reduced ear swelling, decreased CD8 T cell and neutrophil infiltration into the inflamed skin, and suppressed inflammatory cytokine production. Depletion of Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs in DEREG mice demonstrated that Tregs are responsible for these suppressive effects. In other words, IL-2/JES6-1 mediated *in vivo* expansion of endogenous Tregs impaired CHS effector mechanisms and inflammation. Whether or not IL-2/JES6-1 treatment can affect inflammatory conditions also by other mechanisms remains to be elucidated.

### 4.3 IL-2/JES6-1 treatment before sensitization resulted in defective haptenspecific CD8 T cell priming

Hapten-specific CD8 T cell priming is the critical step in the establishment of the sensitization phase during CHS. For this purpose, migration of DCs from the skin to draining LNs is essential. Priming of hapten-specific CD8 T cells takes place in LNs five to seven days after sensitization, and is measured by their IFN- $\gamma$  production upon hapten re-stimulation (143). Treg expansion before sensitization led to suppressed CHS and reduced ear swelling. In order to inhibit this phase, Tregs might act directly on T cells or indirectly via DCs. Data presented in this thesis showed that IL-2/JES6-1 treatment applied before sensitization reduced the frequencies and numbers of hapten-specific CD8 T cells in a Treg dependent manner. In addition, adoptive transfer of LN cells from sensitized mice that were previously treated with IL-2/JES6-1 resulted in impaired CHS. These results demonstrate that CD8 T cell priming was impaired in these mice. Moreover, Tregs can down-regulate the expression of CD80 and CD86 on DCs (144). These molecules are critical for antigen-presentation, co-stimulation, and proper activation of effector T cells. Previous studies have shown that CTLA-4 plays an important role in the suppressive functions of Tregs, and its blockade leads to an abrogation of Treg functions (131, 145). The data presented here demonstrate that CTLA-4<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cell numbers were higher in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice, these cells also show an up-regulated CTLA-4 expression compared with PBS controls. Tregs can attenuate T cell priming through inhibition of proper DC-T cell interactions (146). CTLA-4 expressing Tregs can capture and degrade CD86 from APCs resulting in impaired co-stimulation via CD28 (147). In the present study, DCs downregulated CD86 expression after sensitization in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice. These data indicate that IL-2/JES6-1 induced Treg populations impair T cell priming in LNs by restraining hapten presentation by DCs during sensitization.

#### 4.4 Effector phase inhibition via IL-2/JES6-1 expanded Tregs

After challenge, CD8 T cells and neutrophils accumulate in the inflamed skin. Previous studies have shown that depletion of neutrophils reduces CD8 T cell accumulation in the skin and impairs CHS, suggesting that initial neutrophil recruitment is essential for subsequent T cell infiltration (67). The experiments in this thesis demonstrated CHS suppression in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice before challenge, this effect was Treg-dependent. Furthermore, neutrophil and hapten-specific CD8 T cell frequencies were decreased following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. Since Treg intervention is expected to take place only during challenge in IL-2/JES6-1 BC group, Tregs might suppress CHS response in these mice using a different mechanism as in IL-2/JES6-1 BS group. Adoptive transfer of LN cells from sensitized mice into IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice resulted in reduced ear swelling. These results lead to the hypothesis that Tregs might have affected CHS effector phase through two possibilities: suppressing effector functions of primed T cells, or inhibiting the recruitment of these cells to inflamed skin. Lymphocyte derived IL-10 can block neutrophil migration and distribution within tissues (148). Given that increased IL-10<sup>+</sup> CD4 T populations were detected following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment, it is possible that IL-10 could play a role in blocking neutrophil influx into skin tissue after this treatment. Previous studies have found that Tregs inhibit reactive oxygen intermediates and cytokine production by neutrophils. Moreover, Tregs can promote neutrophil apoptosis via IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  (149), leading to the hypothesis that reduced neutrophil frequencies observed in blood and skin tissue following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment might be the consequence of a direct effect of Tregs on neutrophil functions and survival. In the skin, Richards et al. have shown that the inhibition of neutrophil accumulation and survival by Tregs was associated with decreased expression of the neutrophil chemoattractants CXCL1 and CXCL2 (150), mainly produced by keratinocytes (151), indicating that Tregs may prevent neutrophil infiltration in the skin in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice, which limits the amplification of inflammatory responses at this site and thus results in reduced ear swelling. Of note, IL-2/JES6-1 treatment did not affect neutrophil influx

in the absence of lymphocytes in SCID mice during non-specific croton oil mediated skin irritation. These data are in accordance with the idea that IL-2/JES6-1 does not directly act on neutrophils, but mediates its suppressive effects on these cells through induction of Tregs. Hence, it is possible that Tregs control neutrophil accumulation within the inflamed skin, which subsequently affect T cell infiltration. On the other hand, it has been shown that Tregs are able to directly suppress CD8 T effector cells via T cell-T cell interaction (152). Therefore, a direct inhibition of CD8 T effector cell functions via T-T cell contact by Tregs cannot be excluded. In accordance with these hypotheses, increased Treg frequencies were detected in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice not only in LNs but also in inflamed ears. Conversely, CD8 T cells were reduced in ears after IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. Upregulation of CXCL10 by keratinocytes leads to the recruitment of CD8 T cells into the inflamed skin in a CXCL10-CXCR3-dependent manner (95). As Treg intervention was reported to decrease the expression of CXCL10 and CXCR3 by keratinocytes and CD8 T cells, respectively (153), reduction of CD8 T cell infiltration into the skin after challenge in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice might be due to the Treg inhibition of CXCL10 expression by keratinocytes and/or CXCR3 expression by CD8 T cells. In conclusion, Treg expansion may either suppress effector cell functions in the skin or inhibit their recruitment to the challenge site. These suppressive effects might be affecting hapten-specific CD8 T cells directly or indirectly by controlling neutrophil accumulation in the skin.

# 4.5 IL-2/JES6-1 complexes affect T cell memory and induce long-term CHS suppression

*In vivo* expansion of Tregs by injection of IL-2/JES6-1 complexes either before sensitization or before challenge resulted in CHS suppression. Ear swelling was still reduced even upon a second challenge in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice. This long-lasting suppressive effect was still observed when the second challenge was applied at a previously unchallenged ear, implying that the beneficial effect of IL-2/JES6-1 treatment is not restricted to the site of original inflammation. Additionally, IL-2/JES6-1 seemed specific to the hapten administered by the time of the IL-2/JES6-1 treatment.

The results presented in this thesis indicate that IL-2/JES6-1 treatment similarly expands nTreg and pTreg populations. It has been previously shown that injections of IL-2/JES6-1 in the presence of antigen lead to the migration of antigen-specific Tregs to the site of antigen localization (154). Moreover, a recent study reported that IL-2 is required to generate a population of induced "memory Tregs" upon immunization which are maintained for more than 40 days (155). Hence, this opens the possibility that IL-2/JES6-1 treatment could induce the formation of "memory Tregs". Accordingly, in groups treated with IL-2/JES6-1 before or after sensitization, increased Treg frequencies were observed again after a second challenge in the absence of repeated IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. However, whether IL-2/JES6-1 treatment induces "memory Tregs" or not remains to be elucidated.

The fact that the long-lasting suppression of CHS responses wasn't restricted to the site of original inflammation suggests that the effects Tregs have on CHS pathogenesis is systemic. This might be related to the systemic expansion seen of Treg populations upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment, implicating that skin resident Tregs may not be the main cells that are responsible for these suppressive effect. The increase of Tregs in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice after a second challenge was only detected in skin draining LNs and not in spleen, which strengthen the

hypothesis of a possible generation of antigen-specific Tregs that were activated by the second challenge. Such advantage can be relevant for a potential use of IL-2/mAbs complexes as a therapy for the human allergic contact dermatitis, which can be chronic for patients having a daily contact with chemical sensitizers because of their occupation.

An alternative explanation for the long-lasting effect of IL-2/JES6-1 treatment could be the impairment of hapten-specific memory CD8 T cells. Recent findings have demonstrated that Tregs can mediate the quiescence of memory CD8 T cells through a CTLA-4 dependent mechanism (156). The experiments in this thesis showed an impaired hapten-specific CD8 T cell priming in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice. Moreover, CHS suppression by IL-2/JES6-1 was specific to the antigen that was introduced during the treatment. This latter suppression was also persistent after a second challenge application, supporting the idea that restraining a proper CD8 T cell priming can blunt the recall response. It is possible that such Treg mediated control of CD8 T cell memory reactivation also contributes to the long-lasting and antigen-specific suppression of CHS.

#### 4.6 Relevance in allergic contact dermatitis

Treg induction by treatment with low levels of IL-2 showed its therapeutic potential for the treatment of several inflammatory diseases in clinical trials (113, 157). However, IL-2 potentially stimulates both Tregs and effector T cells, bearing the risk of unwanted amplification of pathogenic T cell populations, while IL-2/JES6-1 treatment is considered to mediate selective stimulation of Tregs. The data presented here demonstrate that induction of the IL-2 signaling via IL-2/JES6-1 treatment results in Treg expansion and long-lasting suppression of inflammation in a murine model of CHS. Therefore, it would be interesting to study the therapeutic potential of an equivalent human IL-2/anti-IL-2 complex comprising similar properties as the murine IL-2/JES6-1 and compare its efficiency and safety with that of low level IL-2 therapy. The findings described in this thesis suggest that triggering the IL-2

pathway may also reduce inflammation in patients with allergic contact dermatitis, highlighting IL-2 as an intriguing therapeutic option for this disease.

#### OUTLOOK

#### 5 OUTLOOK

The results generated in this thesis determine the effect of IL-2/JES6-1 complexes on nTreg and pTreg populations, and show the suppressive effects these complexes have on sensitization and effector phases of CHS. The impact IL-2/JES6-1 has on neutrophils and hapten-specific CD8 T cells was analyzed. The duration of this suppressive effects was also investigated. Tregs were shown to be required for the IL-2/JES6-1 mediated CHS suppression, and their influence on DCs during sensitization and its consequences on T cell priming was examined. It would be interesting to show if the long-lasting effect is due to the formation of persisting allergenspecific Tregs. For this purpose, mice could be treated with IL-2/JES6-1 and CHS to allergen "A" should be induced. Later, long after treatment, Tregs would be isolated and transferred into mice sensitized with allergen "A" or a different and unrelated allergen. This experiment would determine if IL-2/JES6-1 affects CD8 T cell memory or induces allergen-specific Treg memory, which both could be responsible for long-term CHS suppression observed in my experiments.

It would also be interesting to investigate the effect of IL-2/JES6-1 on mast cells. These cells have been shown to control neutrophil recruitment to the skin after allergen-challenge. So it would be interesting to understand if the effect observed on neutrophils was actually mediated by mast cells. Flow cytometry analysis of mast cells in ear tissue could be performed to investigate whether IL-2/JES6-1 alters the frequency and the activation status of these cells. Further experiments can be done using c-kit deficient mice which lack mast cells.

Another interesting experiment would be to analyze the expression of chemokines such as CXCL1 and CXCL2 in the inflamed skin, with and without IL-2/JES6-1 treatment. These chemokines are important for neutrophil recruitment to the skin in CHS. This experiment could explain the impairment of CHS detected following adoptive transfer of LN cells from sensitized mice into IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice. Reduced local CXCL1 and CXCL2 expression could explain the reduced recruitment of transferred effector cells.

## OUTLOOK

Finally, it would be interesting to find out which Treg subpopulation is responsible for these suppressive effects. Adoptive transfer of either nTregs or pTregs into Treg depleted mice (DEREG mice) can be performed to elucidate this question.

- 1. Di Meglio, P., G. K. Perera, and F. O. Nestle. 2011. The Multitasking Organ: Recent Insights into Skin Immune Function. *Immunity* 35: 857–869.
- 2. Paus, R., and G. Cotsarelis. 1999. The biology of hair follicles. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 341: 491–497.
- 3. Heath, W. R., and F. R. Carbone. 2013. The skin-resident and migratory immune system in steady state and memory: innate lymphocytes, dendritic cells and T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 14: 978–985.
- 4. Kuo, I.-H., T. Yoshida, A. De Benedetto, and L. A. Beck. 2013. The cutaneous innate immune response in patients with atopic dermatitis. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 131: 266–278.
- 5. Meephansan, J., H. Tsuda, M. Komine, S.-I. Tominaga, and M. Ohtsuki. 2012. Regulation of IL-33 expression by IFN-γ and tumor necrosis factor-α in normal human epidermal keratinocytes. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 132: 2593–2600.
- 6. Nestle, F. O., P. Di Meglio, J.-Z. Qin, and B. J. Nickoloff. 2009. Skin immune sentinels in health and disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 9: 679–691.
- 7. Zhu, J., H. Yamane, and W. E. Paul. 2010. Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations (\*). *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 28: 445–489.
- Nagao, K., T. Kobayashi, K. Moro, M. Ohyama, T. Adachi, D. Y. Kitashima, S. Ueha, K. Horiuchi, H. Tanizaki, K. Kabashima, A. Kubo, Y. Cho, B. E. Clausen, K. Matsushima, M. Suematsu, G. C. Furtado, S. A. Lira, J. M. Farber, M. C. Udey, and M. Amagai. 2012. Stress-induced production of chemokines by hair follicles regulates the trafficking of dendritic cells in skin. *Nat. Immunol.* 13: 744–752.
- Palmer, C. N. A., A. D. Irvine, A. Terron-Kwiatkowski, Y. Zhao, H. Liao, S. P. Lee, D. R. Goudie, A. Sandilands, L. E. Campbell, F. J. D. Smith, G. M. O'Regan, R. M. Watson, J. E. Cecil, S. J. Bale, J. G. Compton, J. J. DiGiovanna, P. Fleckman, S. Lewis-Jones, G. Arseculeratne, A. Sergeant, C. S. Munro, B. El Houate, K. McElreavey, L. B. Halkjaer, H. Bisgaard, S. Mukhopadhyay, and W. H. I. McLean. 2006. Common loss-of-function variants of the epidermal barrier protein filaggrin are a major predisposing factor for atopic dermatitis. *Nat. Genet.* 38: 441–446.
- 10. Chew, A.-L., and H. I. Maibach. 2003. Occupational issues of irritant contact dermatitis. *Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health* 76: 339–346.
- Lisby, S., and O. Baadsgaard. 2006. Mechanisms of Irritant Contact Dermatitis. In *Contact Dermatitis* P. J. Frosch, T. Menné, and J.-P. Lepoittevin, eds. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. 69–82.
- 12. Effendy, I., H. Löffler, and H. I. Maibach. 2000. Epidermal cytokines in murine cutaneous irritant responses. *J. Appl. Toxicol. JAT* 20: 335–341.
- 13. Barker, J. N., R. S. Mitra, C. E. Griffiths, V. M. Dixit, and B. J. Nickoloff. 1991. Keratinocytes as initiators of inflammation. *Lancet Lond. Engl.* 337: 211–214.

- 14. McKenzie, R. C., and D. N. Sauder. 1990. The role of keratinocyte cytokines in inflammation and immunity. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 95: 105S–107S.
- Groves, R. W., M. H. Allen, E. L. Ross, J. N. Barker, and D. M. MacDonald. 1995. Tumour necrosis factor alpha is pro-inflammatory in normal human skin and modulates cutaneous adhesion molecule expression. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 132: 345–352.
- 16. Lee, E. G., B. M. Mickle-Kawar, and R. M. Gallucci. 2013. IL-6 deficiency exacerbates skin inflammation in a murine model of irritant dermatitis. *J. Immunotoxicol.* 10: 192–200.
- 17. Hol, J., L. Wilhelmsen, and G. Haraldsen. 2010. The murine IL-8 homologues KC, MIP-2, and LIX are found in endothelial cytoplasmic granules but not in Weibel-Palade bodies. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 87: 501–508.
- 18. Zhang, L., and S. S. Tinkle. 2000. Chemical activation of innate and specific immunity in contact dermatitis. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 115: 168–176.
- Peiser, M., T. Tralau, J. Heidler, A. M. Api, J. H. E. Arts, D. A. Basketter, J. English, T. L. Diepgen, R. C. Fuhlbrigge, A. A. Gaspari, J. D. Johansen, A. T. Karlberg, I. Kimber, J. P. Lepoittevin, M. Liebsch, H. I. Maibach, S. F. Martin, H. F. Merk, T. Platzek, T. Rustemeyer, A. Schnuch, R. J. Vandebriel, I. R. White, and A. Luch. 2012. Allergic contact dermatitis: epidemiology, molecular mechanisms, in vitro methods and regulatory aspects: Current knowledge assembled at an international workshop at BfR, Germany. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 69: 763–781.
- 20. Ouwehand, K., D. Oosterhoff, M. Breetveld, R. J. Scheper, T. D. de Gruijl, and S. Gibbs. 2011. Irritant-Induced Migration of Langerhans Cells Coincides with an IL-10-Dependent Switch to a Macrophage-Like Phenotype. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 131: 418–425.
- 21. Gildea, L. A., C. A. Ryan, L. M. Foertsch, J. M. Kennedy, R. J. Dearman, I. Kimber, and G. F. Gerberick. 2006. Identification of Gene Expression Changes Induced by Chemical Allergens in Dendritic Cells: Opportunities for Skin Sensitization Testing. J. Invest. Dermatol. 126: 1813–1822.
- 22. Martin, S. F. 2013. Induction of Contact Hypersensitivity in the Mouse Model. In *Molecular Dermatology* vol. 961. C. Has, and C. Sitaru, eds. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ. 325–335.
- 23. Martin, S., B. Ortmann, U. Pflugfelder, U. Birsner, and H. U. Weltzien. 1992. Role of hapten-anchoring peptides in defining hapten-epitopes for MHC-restricted cytotoxic T cells. Cross-reactive TNP-determinants on different peptides. *J. Immunol.* 149: 2569–2575.
- 24. Akira, S., S. Uematsu, and O. Takeuchi. 2006. Pathogen Recognition and Innate Immunity. *Cell* 124: 783–801.
- Martin, S. F., J. C. Dudda, E. Bachtanian, A. Lembo, S. Liller, C. Dürr, M. M. Heimesaat, S. Bereswill, G. Fejer, R. Vassileva, T. Jakob, N. Freudenberg, C. C. Termeer, C. Johner, C. Galanos, and M. A. Freudenberg. 2008. Toll-like receptor and IL-12 signaling control susceptibility to contact hypersensitivity. *J. Exp. Med.* 205: 2151–2162.
- 26. Mummert, M. E. 2005. Immunologic roles of hyaluronan. Immunol. Res. 31: 189-206.

- 27. Mummert, M. E., M. Mohamadzadeh, D. I. Mummert, N. Mizumoto, and A. Takashima. 2000. Development of a peptide inhibitor of hyaluronan-mediated leukocyte trafficking. *J. Exp. Med.* 192: 769–779.
- 28. Kaplan, D. H., B. Z. Igyártó, and A. A. Gaspari. 2012. Early immune events in the induction of allergic contact dermatitis. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* .
- 29. Martinon, F., A. Mayor, and J. Tschopp. 2009. The Inflammasomes: Guardians of the Body. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 27: 229–265.
- Watanabe, H., O. Gaide, V. Pétrilli, F. Martinon, E. Contassot, S. Roques, J. A. Kummer, J. Tschopp, and L. E. French. 2007. Activation of the IL-1beta-processing inflammasome is involved in contact hypersensitivity. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 127: 1956–1963.
- Watanabe, H., S. Gehrke, E. Contassot, S. Roques, J. Tschopp, P. S. Friedmann, L. E. French, and O. Gaide. 2008. Danger signaling through the inflammasome acts as a master switch between tolerance and sensitization. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 180: 5826–5832.
- 32. Sutterwala, F. S., Y. Ogura, M. Szczepanik, M. Lara-Tejero, G. S. Lichtenberger, E. P. Grant, J. Bertin, A. J. Coyle, J. E. Galán, P. W. Askenase, and R. A. Flavell. 2006. Critical Role for NALP3/CIAS1/Cryopyrin in Innate and Adaptive Immunity through Its Regulation of Caspase-1. *Immunity* 24: 317–327.
- 33. Martin, S. F., P. R. Esser, F. C. Weber, T. Jakob, M. A. Freudenberg, M. Schmidt, and M. Goebeler. 2011. Mechanisms of chemical-induced innate immunity in allergic contact dermatitis. *Allergy* 66: 1152–1163.
- 34. Arthur, J. C., J. D. Lich, Z. Ye, I. C. Allen, D. Gris, J. E. Wilson, M. Schneider, K. E. Roney, B. P. O'Connor, C. B. Moore, A. Morrison, F. S. Sutterwala, J. Bertin, B. H. Koller, Z. Liu, and J. P.-Y. Ting. 2010. Cutting Edge: NLRP12 Controls Dendritic and Myeloid Cell Migration To Affect Contact Hypersensitivity. *J. Immunol.* 185: 4515–4519.
- 35. Enk, A. H., and S. I. Katz. 1992. Early molecular events in the induction phase of contact sensitivity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 89: 1398–1402.
- 36. Garioch, J. j., R. m. Mackie, I. Campbell, and A. Forsyth. 1991. Keratinocyte expression of intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) correlated with infiltration of lymphocyte function associated antigen 1 (LFA-1) positive cells in evolving allergic contact dermatitis reactions. *Histopathology* 19: 351–354.
- 37. Liu, Y.-J., V. Soumelis, N. Watanabe, T. Ito, Y.-H. Wang, R. de W. Malefyt, M. Omori, B. Zhou, and S. F. Ziegler. 2007. TSLP: An Epithelial Cell Cytokine that Regulates T Cell Differentiation by Conditioning Dendritic Cell Maturation. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 25: 193–219.
- Ebner, S., V. A. Nguyen, M. Forstner, Y.-H. Wang, D. Wolfram, Y.-J. Liu, and N. Romani. 2007. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin converts human epidermal Langerhans cells into antigen-presenting cells that induce proallergic T cells. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 119: 982– 990.
- 39. Romani, N., B. E. Clausen, and P. Stoitzner. 2010. Langerhans cells and more: langerinexpressing dendritic cell subsets in the skin. *Immunol. Rev.* 234: 120–141.

- Weinlich, G., M. Heine, H. Stössel, M. Zanella, P. Stoitzner, U. Ortner, J. Smolle, F. Koch, N. T. Sepp, G. Schuler, and N. Romani. 1998. Entry into afferent lymphatics and maturation in situ of migrating murine cutaneous dendritic cells. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 110: 441–448.
- 41. Moodycliffe, A. M., V. Shreedhar, S. E. Ullrich, J. Walterscheid, C. Bucana, M. L. Kripke, and L. Flores-Romo. 2000. CD40-CD40 ligand interactions in vivo regulate migration of antigen-bearing dendritic cells from the skin to draining lymph nodes. *J. Exp. Med.* 191: 2011–2020.
- 42. Nuriya, S., H. Yagita, K. Okumura, and M. Azuma. 1996. The differential role of CD86 and CD80 co-stimulatory molecules in the induction and the effector phases of contact hypersensitivity. *Int. Immunol.* 8: 917–926.
- 43. Aiba, S., A. Terunuma, H. Manome, and H. Tagami. 1997. Dendritic cells differently respond to haptens and irritants by their production of cytokines and expression of costimulatory molecules. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 27: 3031–3038.
- 44. Honda, T., S. Nakajima, G. Egawa, K. Ogasawara, B. Malissen, Y. Miyachi, and K. Kabashima. 2010. Compensatory role of Langerhans cells and langerin-positive dermal dendritic cells in the sensitization phase of murine contact hypersensitivity. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 125: 1154–1156.e2.
- 45. Wang, L., L. S. Bursch, A. Kissenpfennig, B. Malissen, S. C. Jameson, and K. A. Hogquist. 2008. Langerin expressing cells promote skin immune responses under defined conditions. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 180: 4722–4727.
- 46. Kissenpfennig, A., S. Henri, B. Dubois, C. Laplace-Builhé, P. Perrin, N. Romani, C. H. Tripp, P. Douillard, L. Leserman, D. Kaiserlian, S. Saeland, J. Davoust, and B. Malissen. 2005. Dynamics and Function of Langerhans Cells In Vivo: Dermal Dendritic Cells Colonize Lymph Node AreasDistinct from Slower Migrating Langerhans Cells. *Immunity* 22: 643–654.
- 47. Galli, S. J., and I. Hammel. 1984. Unequivocal delayed hypersensitivity in mast cell-deficient and beige mice. *Science* 226: 710–713.
- Askenase, P. W., H. Van Loveren, S. Kraeuter-Kops, Y. Ron, R. Meade, T. C. Theoharides, J. J. Nordlund, H. Scovern, M. D. Gerhson, and W. Ptak. 1983. Defective elicitation of delayed-type hypersensitivity in W/Wv and SI/SId mast cell-deficient mice. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 131: 2687–2694.
- 49. Dudeck, A., J. Dudeck, J. Scholten, A. Petzold, S. Surianarayanan, A. Köhler, K. Peschke, D. Vöhringer, C. Waskow, T. Krieg, W. Müller, A. Waisman, K. Hartmann, M. Gunzer, and A. Roers. 2011. Mast Cells Are Key Promoters of Contact Allergy that Mediate the Adjuvant Effects of Haptens. *Immunity* 34: 973–984.
- 50. Defrance, T., M. Casamayor-Pallejà, and P. H. Krammer. 2002. The life and death of a B cell. *Adv. Cancer Res.* 86: 195–225.
- 51. Stall, A. M., S. M. Wells, and K. P. Lam. 1996. B-1 cells: unique origins and functions. *Semin. Immunol.* 8: 45–59.

- 52. Tsuji, R. F., M. Szczepanik, I. Kawikova, V. Paliwal, R. A. Campos, A. Itakura, M. Akahira-Azuma, N. Baumgarth, L. A. Herzenberg, and P. W. Askenase. 2002. B Cell-dependent T Cell Responses: IgM Antibodies Are Required to Elicit Contact Sensitivity. *J. Exp. Med.* 196: 1277–1290.
- 53. Askenase, P. W., M. Szczepanik, A. Itakura, C. Kiener, and R. A. Campos. 2004. Extravascular T-cell recruitment requires initiation begun by Vα14+ NKT cells and B-1 B cells. *Trends Immunol.* 25: 441–449.
- Campos, R. A. 2003. Cutaneous Immunization Rapidly Activates Liver Invariant V 14 NKT Cells Stimulating B-1 B Cells to Initiate T Cell Recruitment for Elicitation of Contact Sensitivity. J. Exp. Med. 198: 1785–1796.
- 55. Mócsai, A. 2013. Diverse novel functions of neutrophils in immunity, inflammation, and beyond. *J. Exp. Med.* 210: 1283–1299.
- 56. Weber, F. C., T. Németh, J. Z. Csepregi, A. Dudeck, A. Roers, B. Ozsvári, E. Oswald, L. G. Puskás, T. Jakob, A. Mócsai, and S. F. Martin. 2015. Neutrophils are required for both the sensitization and elicitation phase of contact hypersensitivity. *J. Exp. Med.* 212: 15–22.
- 57. Christensen, A. D., S. Skov, and C. Haase. 2014. The role of neutrophils and G-CSF in DNFB-induced contact hypersensitivity in mice. *Immun. Inflamm. Dis.* 2: 21–34.
- Watanabe, H., O. Gaide, V. Pétrilli, F. Martinon, E. Contassot, S. Roques, J. A. Kummer, J. Tschopp, and L. E. French. 2007. Activation of the IL-1beta-processing inflammasome is involved in contact hypersensitivity. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 127: 1956–1963.
- 59. Mitsui, G., K. Mitsui, T. Hirano, O. Ohara, M. Kato, and Y. Niwano. 2003. Kinetic profiles of sequential gene expressions for chemokines in mice with contact hypersensitivity. *Immunol. Lett.* 86: 191–197.
- 60. Egawa, G., T. Honda, H. Tanizaki, H. Doi, Y. Miyachi, and K. Kabashima. 2011. In vivo imaging of T-cell motility in the elicitation phase of contact hypersensitivity using two-photon microscopy. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 131: 977–979.
- 61. Ritprajak, P., M. Hashiguchi, and M. Azuma. 2008. Topical application of cream-emulsified CD86 siRNA ameliorates allergic skin disease by targeting cutaneous dendritic cells. *Mol. Ther. J. Am. Soc. Gene Ther.* 16: 1323–1330.
- 62. Gocinski, B. L., and R. E. Tigelaar. 1990. Roles of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in murine contact sensitivity revealed by in vivo monoclonal antibody depletion. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 144: 4121–4128.
- 63. Bour, H., E. Peyron, M. Gaucherand, J. L. Garrigue, C. Desvignes, D. Kaiserlian, J. P. Revillard, and J. F. Nicolas. 1995. Major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted CD8+ T cells and class II-restricted CD4+ T cells, respectively, mediate and regulate contact sensitivity to dinitrofluorobenzene. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25: 3006–3010.
- 64. Xu, H., N. A. DiIulio, and R. L. Fairchild. 1996. T cell populations primed by hapten sensitization in contact sensitivity are distinguished by polarized patterns of cytokine production: interferon gamma-producing (Tc1) effector CD8+ T cells and interleukin (II) 4/II-10-producing (Th2) negative regulatory CD4+ T cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 183: 1001–1012.

- 65. Martin, S. F., J. C. Dudda, V. Delattre, E. Bachtanian, C. Leicht, B. Burger, H. U. Weltzien, and J. C. Simon. 2004. Fas-Mediated Inhibition of CD4+ T Cell Priming Results in Dominance of Type 1 CD8+ T Cells in the Immune Response to the Contact Sensitizer Trinitrophenyl. J. Immunol. 173: 3178–3185.
- 66. Kish, D. D., A. V. Gorbachev, N. Parameswaran, N. Gupta, and R. L. Fairchild. 2012. Neutrophil Expression of Fas Ligand and Perforin Directs Effector CD8 T Cell Infiltration into Antigen-Challenged Skin. *J. Immunol.* 189: 2191–2202.
- 67. Engeman, T. Gorbachev AV, Kish DD, Fairchild RL. 2004. The intensity of neutrophil infiltration controls the number of antigen-primed CD8 T cells recruited into cutaneous antigen challenge sites. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 76: 941–949.
- Larson, R. P., S. C. Zimmerli, M. R. Comeau, A. Itano, M. Omori, M. Iseki, C. Hauser, and S. F. Ziegler. 2010. Dibutyl Phthalate-Induced Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Is Required for Th2 Contact Hypersensitivity Responses. J. Immunol. 184: 2974–2984.
- Trautmann, A., M. Akdis, D. Kleemann, F. Altznauer, H.-U. Simon, T. Graeve, M. Noll, E.-B. Bröcker, K. Blaser, and C. A. Akdis. 2000. T cell–mediated Fas-induced keratinocyte apoptosis plays a key pathogenetic role in eczematous dermatitis. *J. Clin. Invest.* 106: 25– 35.
- 70. Saulnier, M., S. Huang, M. Aguet, and B. Ryffel. 1995. Role of interferon-gamma in contact hypersensitivity assessed in interferon-gamma receptor-deficient mice. *Toxicology* 102: 301–312.
- 71. Kehren, J., C. Desvignes, M. Krasteva, M.-T. Ducluzeau, O. Assossou, F. Horand, M. Hahne, D. Kägi, D. Kaiserlian, and J.-F. Nicolas. 1999. Cytotoxicity Is Mandatory for CD8+ T Cell-mediated Contact Hypersensitivity. J. Exp. Med. 189: 779–786.
- 72. Hori, S., T. Nomura, and S. Sakaguchi. 2003. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science* 299: 1057–1061.
- 73. Sakaguchi, S., N. Sakaguchi, M. Asano, M. Itoh, and M. Toda. 1995. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 155: 1151–1164.
- 74. Thornton, A. M., P. E. Korty, D. Q. Tran, E. A. Wohlfert, P. E. Murray, Y. Belkaid, and E. M. Shevach. 2010. Expression of Helios, an Ikaros Transcription Factor Family Member, Differentiates Thymic-Derived from Peripherally Induced Foxp3+ T Regulatory Cells. J. Immunol. 184: 3433–3441.
- 75. Sugimoto, N., T. Oida, K. Hirota, K. Nakamura, T. Nomura, T. Uchiyama, and S. Sakaguchi. 2006. Foxp3-dependent and -independent molecules specific for CD25+CD4+ natural regulatory T cells revealed by DNA microarray analysis. *Int. Immunol.* 18: 1197–1209.
- 76. Yadav, M., C. Louvet, D. Davini, J. M. Gardner, M. Martinez-Llordella, S. Bailey-Bucktrout, B. A. Anthony, F. M. Sverdrup, R. Head, D. J. Kuster, P. Ruminski, D. Weiss, D. Von Schack, and J. A. Bluestone. 2012. Neuropilin-1 distinguishes natural and inducible

regulatory T cells among regulatory T cell subsets in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 209: 1713–1722, S1–19.

- 77. Thornton, A. M., P. E. Korty, D. Q. Tran, E. A. Wohlfert, P. E. Murray, Y. Belkaid, and E. M. Shevach. 2010. Expression of Helios, an Ikaros Transcription Factor Family Member, Differentiates Thymic-Derived from Peripherally Induced Foxp3+ T Regulatory Cells. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 184: 3433–3441.
- 78. Kim, Y. C., R. Bhairavabhotla, J. Yoon, A. Golding, A. M. Thornton, D. Q. Tran, and E. M. Shevach. 2012. Oligodeoxynucleotides stabilize Helios-expressing Foxp3+ human T regulatory cells during in vitro expansion. *Blood* 119: 2810–2818.
- Sugimoto, N., T. Oida, K. Hirota, K. Nakamura, T. Nomura, T. Uchiyama, and S. Sakaguchi. 2006. Foxp3-dependent and -independent molecules specific for CD25+CD4+ natural regulatory T cells revealed by DNA microarray analysis. *Int. Immunol.* 18: 1197–1209.
- Yadav, M., C. Louvet, D. Davini, J. M. Gardner, M. Martinez-Llordella, S. Bailey-Bucktrout, B. A. Anthony, F. M. Sverdrup, R. Head, D. J. Kuster, P. Ruminski, D. Weiss, D. Von Schack, and J. A. Bluestone. 2012. Neuropilin-1 distinguishes natural and inducible regulatory T cells among regulatory T cell subsets in vivo. *J. Exp. Med.* 209: 1713–1722, S1–19.
- Lin, X., M. Chen, Y. Liu, Z. Guo, X. He, D. Brand, and S. G. Zheng. 2013. Advances in distinguishing natural from induced Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells. *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol.* 6: 116–123.
- 82. Solomon, B. D., C. Mueller, W.-J. Chae, L. M. Alabanza, and M. S. Bynoe. 2011. Neuropilin-1 attenuates autoreactivity in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 108: 2040–2045.
- Grohmann, U., C. Orabona, F. Fallarino, C. Vacca, F. Calcinaro, A. Falorni, P. Candeloro, M. L. Belladonna, R. Bianchi, M. C. Fioretti, and P. Puccetti. 2002. CTLA-4-Ig regulates tryptophan catabolism in vivo. *Nat. Immunol.* 3: 1097–1101.
- 84. Liang, B., C. Workman, J. Lee, C. Chew, B. M. Dale, L. Colonna, M. Flores, N. Li, E. Schweighoffer, S. Greenberg, V. Tybulewicz, D. Vignali, and R. Clynes. 2008. Regulatory T cells inhibit dendritic cells by lymphocyte activation gene-3 engagement of MHC class II. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 180: 5916–5926.
- 85. Borsellino, G., M. Kleinewietfeld, D. Di Mitri, A. Sternjak, A. Diamantini, R. Giometto, S. Höpner, D. Centonze, G. Bernardi, M. L. Dell'Acqua, P. M. Rossini, L. Battistini, O. Rötzschke, and K. Falk. 2007. Expression of ectonucleotidase CD39 by Foxp3+ Treg cells: hydrolysis of extracellular ATP and immune suppression. *Blood* 110: 1225–1232.
- 86. Shevach, E. M. 2009. Mechanisms of Foxp3+ T Regulatory Cell-Mediated Suppression. *Immunity* 30: 636–645.
- 87. von Boehmer, H. 2005. Mechanisms of suppression by suppressor T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 6: 338–344.

- 88. Annacker, O., R. Pimenta-Araujo, O. Burlen-Defranoux, T. C. Barbosa, A. Cumano, and A. Bandeira. 2001. CD25+ CD4+ T cells regulate the expansion of peripheral CD4 T cells through the production of IL-10. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 166: 3008–3018.
- 89. Pandiyan, P., L. Zheng, S. Ishihara, J. Reed, and M. J. Lenardo. 2007. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induce cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis of effector CD4+ T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 8: 1353–1362.
- 90. Cao, X., S. F. Cai, T. A. Fehniger, J. Song, L. I. Collins, D. R. Piwnica-Worms, and T. J. Ley. 2007. Granzyme B and perforin are important for regulatory T cell-mediated suppression of tumor clearance. *Immunity* 27: 635–646.
- 91. Honda, T., A. Otsuka, H. Tanizaki, Y. Minegaki, K. Nagao, H. Waldmann, M. Tomura, S. Hori, Y. Miyachi, and K. Kabashima. 2011. Enhanced murine contact hypersensitivity by depletion of endogenous regulatory T cells in the sensitization phase. *J. Dermatol. Sci.* 61: 144–147.
- 92. Ring, S., S. C. Schäfer, K. Mahnke, H.-A. Lehr, and A. H. Enk. 2006. CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress contact hypersensitivity reactions by blocking influx of effector T cells into inflamed tissue. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 36: 2981–2992.
- 93. Kish, D. D. 2005. CD8+ T cells produce IL-2, which is required for CD4+CD25+ T cell regulation of effector CD8+ T cell development for contact hypersensitivity responses. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 78: 725–735.
- 94. Ring, S., S. Karakhanova, T. Johnson, A. H. Enk, and K. Mahnke. 2010. Gap junctions between regulatory T cells and dendritic cells prevent sensitization of CD8(+) T cells. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 125: 237–246.e1–7.
- 95. Honda, T., G. Egawa, S. Grabbe, and K. Kabashima. 2013. Update of immune events in the murine contact hypersensitivity model: toward the understanding of allergic contact dermatitis. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 133: 303–315.
- 96. Ring, S., S. J. Oliver, B. N. Cronstein, A. H. Enk, and K. Mahnke. 2009. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress contact hypersensitivity reactions through a CD39, adenosinedependent mechanism. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 123: 1287–1296.e2.
- 97. Maeda, A., S. Beissert, T. Schwarz, and A. Schwarz. 2008. Phenotypic and functional characterization of ultraviolet radiation-induced regulatory T cells. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950* 180: 3065–3071.
- 98. Tomura, M., T. Honda, H. Tanizaki, A. Otsuka, G. Egawa, Y. Tokura, H. Waldmann, S. Hori, J. G. Cyster, T. Watanabe, Y. Miyachi, O. Kanagawa, and K. Kabashima. 2010. Activated regulatory T cells are the major T cell type emigrating from the skin during a cutaneous immune response in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 120: 883–893.
- 99. Yanaba, K., J.-D. Bouaziz, K. M. Haas, J. C. Poe, M. Fujimoto, and T. F. Tedder. 2008. A Regulatory B Cell Subset with a Unique CD1dhiCD5+ Phenotype Controls T Cell-Dependent Inflammatory Responses. *Immunity* 28: 639–650.
- 100. Malek, T. R. 2008. The biology of interleukin-2. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 26: 453-479.

- 101. Yu, A., L. Zhu, N. H. Altman, and T. R. Malek. 2009. A low interleukin-2 receptor signaling threshold supports the development and homeostasis of T regulatory cells. *Immunity* 30: 204–217.
- 102. Yu, A., I. Snowhite, F. Vendrame, M. Rosenzwajg, D. Klatzmann, A. Pugliese, and T. R. Malek. 2015. Selective IL-2 responsiveness of regulatory T cells through multiple intrinsic mechanisms supports the use of low-dose IL-2 therapy in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 64: 2172–2183.
- 103. Malek, T. R., and I. Castro. 2010. Interleukin-2 receptor signaling: at the interface between tolerance and immunity. *Immunity* 33: 153–165.
- 104. Malek, T. R., and A. L. Bayer. 2004. Tolerance, not immunity, crucially depends on IL-2. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 4: 665–674.
- 105. Smith, K. A. 1988. Interleukin-2: inception, impact, and implications. *Science* 240: 1169–1176.
- 106. Waldmann, T. A. 1989. The multi-subunit interleukin-2 receptor. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 58: 875–911.
- 107. Minami, Y., T. Kono, T. Miyazaki, and T. Taniguchi. 1993. The IL-2 receptor complex: its structure, function, and target genes. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 11: 245–268.
- 108. Willerford, D. M., J. Chen, J. A. Ferry, L. Davidson, A. Ma, and F. W. Alt. 1995. Interleukin-2 receptor alpha chain regulates the size and content of the peripheral lymphoid compartment. *Immunity* 3: 521–530.
- 109. Nakamura, Y., S. M. Russell, S. A. Mess, M. Friedmann, M. Erdos, C. Francois, Y. Jacques, S. Adelstein, and W. J. Leonard. 1994. Heterodimerization of the IL-2 receptor beta- and gamma-chain cytoplasmic domains is required for signalling. *Nature* 369: 330–333.
- 110. Létourneau, S., C. Krieg, G. Pantaleo, and O. Boyman. 2009. IL-2- and CD25-dependent immunoregulatory mechanisms in the homeostasis of T-cell subsets. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 123: 758–762.
- 111. Waldmann, T. A. 2006. The biology of interleukin-2 and interleukin-15: implications for cancer therapy and vaccine design. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 6: 595–601.
- 112. Taniguchi, T., and Y. Minami. 1993. The IL-2/IL-2 receptor system: a current overview. *Cell* 73: 5–8.
- 113. Pham, M. N., M. G. von Herrath, and J. L. Vela. 2015. Antigen-Specific Regulatory T Cells and Low Dose of IL-2 in Treatment of Type 1 Diabetes. *Front. Immunol.* 6: 651.
- 114. Kim, N., Y.-W. Jeon, Y.-S. Nam, J.-Y. Lim, K.-I. Im, E.-S. Lee, and S.-G. Cho. 2016. Therapeutic potential of low-dose IL-2 in a chronic GVHD patient by in vivo expansion of regulatory T cells. *Cytokine* 78: 22–26.
- 115. Hu, P., M. Mizokami, G. Ruoff, L. A. Khawli, and A. L. Epstein. 2003. Generation of lowtoxicity interleukin-2 fusion proteins devoid of vasopermeability activity. *Blood* 101: 4853–4861.

- 116. Harvill, E. T., J. M. Fleming, and S. L. Morrison. 1996. In vivo properties of an IgG3-IL-2 fusion protein. A general strategy for immune potentiation. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 157: 3165–3170.
- 117. Boyman, O., M. Kovar, M. P. Rubinstein, C. D. Surh, and J. Sprent. 2006. Selective stimulation of T cell subsets with antibody-cytokine immune complexes. *Science* 311: 1924–1927.
- 118. Létourneau, S., E. M. M. van Leeuwen, C. Krieg, C. Martin, G. Pantaleo, J. Sprent, C. D. Surh, and O. Boyman. 2010. IL-2/anti-IL-2 antibody complexes show strong biological activity by avoiding interaction with IL-2 receptor alpha subunit CD25. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 107: 2171–2176.
- 119. Boyman, O., and J. Sprent. 2012. The role of interleukin-2 during homeostasis and activation of the immune system. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 12: 180–190.
- 120. Rojas, G., Y. Cabrera Infante, A. Pupo, and T. Carmenate. 2014. Fine epitope specificity of antibodies against interleukin-2 explains their paradoxical immunomodulatory effects. *mAbs* 6: 273–285.
- 121. Bosma, G. C., R. P. Custer, and M. J. Bosma. 1983. A severe combined immunodeficiency mutation in the mouse. *Nature* 301: 527–530.
- 122. Lahl, K., C. Loddenkemper, C. Drouin, J. Freyer, J. Arnason, G. Eberl, A. Hamann, H. Wagner, J. Huehn, and T. Sparwasser. 2007. Selective depletion of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induces a scurfy-like disease. *J. Exp. Med.* 204: 57–63.
- 123. Webster, K. E., S. Walters, R. E. Kohler, T. Mrkvan, O. Boyman, C. D. Surh, S. T. Grey, and J. Sprent. 2009. In vivo expansion of T reg cells with IL-2-mAb complexes: induction of resistance to EAE and long-term acceptance of islet allografts without immunosuppression. *J. Exp. Med.* 206: 751–760.
- 124. Van Keuren, M. L., G. B. Gavrilina, W. E. Filipiak, M. G. Zeidler, and T. L. Saunders. 2009. Generating Transgenic Mice from Bacterial Artificial Chromosomes: Transgenesis Efficiency, Integration and Expression Outcomes. *Transgenic Res.* 18: 769–785.
- 125. Saito, M., T. Iwawaki, C. Taya, H. Yonekawa, M. Noda, Y. Inui, E. Mekada, Y. Kimata, A. Tsuru, and K. Kohno. 2001. Diphtheria toxin receptor-mediated conditional and targeted cell ablation in transgenic mice. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 19: 746–750.
- 126. Lehtimäki, S., T. Savinko, K. Lahl, T. Sparwasser, H. Wolff, A. Lauerma, H. Alenius, and N. Fyhrquist. 2012. The temporal and spatial dynamics of Foxp3+ Treg cell-mediated suppression during contact hypersensitivity responses in a murine model. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 132: 2744–2751.
- 127. Webster, K. E., S. Walters, R. E. Kohler, T. Mrkvan, O. Boyman, C. D. Surh, S. T. Grey, and J. Sprent. 2009. In vivo expansion of T reg cells with IL-2-mAb complexes: induction of resistance to EAE and long-term acceptance of islet allografts without immunosuppression. *J. Exp. Med.* 206: 751–760.

- 128. Wilson, M. S., J. T. Pesce, T. R. Ramalingam, R. W. Thompson, A. Cheever, and T. A. Wynn. 2008. Suppression of murine allergic airway disease by IL-2:anti-IL-2 monoclonal antibody-induced regulatory T cells. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 181: 6942–6954.
- 129. Traidl, C., H. F. Merk, A. Cavani, and N. Hunzelmann. 2000. New insights into the pathomechanisms of contact dermatitis by the use of transgenic mouse models. *Skin Pharmacol. Appl. Skin Physiol.* 13: 300–312.
- 130. Vocanson, M., A. Hennino, A. Rozières, G. Poyet, and J.-F. Nicolas. 2009. Effector and regulatory mechanisms in allergic contact dermatitis. *Allergy* 64: 1699–1714.
- 131. Read, S., R. Greenwald, A. Izcue, N. Robinson, D. Mandelbrot, L. Francisco, A. H. Sharpe, and F. Powrie. 2006. Blockade of CTLA-4 on CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Cells Abrogates Their Function In Vivo. *J. Immunol.* 177: 4376–4383.
- 132. Nakashima, C., A. Otsuka, A. Kitoh, T. Honda, G. Egawa, S. Nakajima, S. Nakamizo, M. Arita, M. Kubo, Y. Miyachi, and K. Kabashima. 2014. Basophils regulate the recruitment of eosinophils in a murine model of irritant contact dermatitis. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 134: 100–107.e12.
- 133. da Silva, G. L., N. D. M. Sperotto, T. J. Borges, C. Bonorino, C. M. Takyia, R. Coutinho-Silva, M. M. Campos, R. F. Zanin, and F. B. Morrone. 2013. P2X7 receptor is required for neutrophil accumulation in a mouse model of irritant contact dermatitis. *Exp. Dermatol.* 22: 184–188.
- 134. Roediger, B., R. Kyle, K. H. Yip, N. Sumaria, T. V. Guy, B. S. Kim, A. J. Mitchell, S. S. Tay, R. Jain, E. Forbes-Blom, X. Chen, P. L. Tong, H. A. Bolton, D. Artis, W. E. Paul, B. F. de St Groth, M. A. Grimbaldeston, G. Le Gros, and W. Weninger. 2013. Cutaneous immunosurveillance and regulation of inflammation by group 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 14: 564–573.
- 135. Van Gool, F., A. B. Molofsky, M. M. Morar, M. Rosenzwajg, H.-E. Liang, D. Klatzmann, R. M. Locksley, and J. A. Bluestone. 2014. Interleukin-5-producing group 2 innate lymphoid cells control eosinophilia induced by interleukin-2 therapy. *Blood* 124: 3572– 3576.
- 136. Ring, S., A. H. Enk, and K. Mahnke. 2010. ATP Activates Regulatory T Cells In Vivo during Contact Hypersensitivity Reactions. *J. Immunol.* 184: 3408–3416.
- 137. Martin, S., V. Delattre, C. Leicht, H.-U. Weltzien, and J. C. Simon. 2003. A high frequency of allergen-specific CD8+ Tc1 cells is associated with the murine immune response to the contact sensitizer trinitrophenyl. *Exp. Dermatol.* 12: 78–85.
- 138. Zhang, E. Y., A. Y. Chen, and B. T. Zhu. 2009. Mechanism of Dinitrochlorobenzene-Induced Dermatitis in Mice: Role of Specific Antibodies in Pathogenesis. *PLoS ONE* 4: e7703.
- 139. Watanabe, R., M. Fujimoto, N. Ishiura, Y. Kuwano, H. Nakashima, N. Yazawa, H. Okochi, S. Sato, T. F. Tedder, and K. Tamaki. 2007. CD19 Expression in B Cells Is Important for Suppression of Contact Hypersensitivity. *Am. J. Pathol.* 171: 560–570.

- 140. Wilson, M. S., J. T. Pesce, T. R. Ramalingam, R. W. Thompson, A. Cheever, and T. A. Wynn. 2008. Suppression of murine allergic airway disease by IL-2: anti-IL-2 monoclonal antibody-induced regulatory T cells. *J. Immunol.* 181: 6942–6954.
- 141. Dinh, T. N., T. S. Kyaw, P. Kanellakis, K. To, P. Tipping, B.-H. Toh, A. Bobik, and A. Agrotis. 2012. Cytokine therapy with interleukin-2/anti-interleukin-2 monoclonal antibody complexes expands CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells and attenuates development and progression of atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 126: 1256–1266.
- 142. Kasahara, K., N. Sasaki, T. Yamashita, T. Kita, K. Yodoi, Y. Sasaki, M. Takeda, and K. i. Hirata. 2014. CD3 Antibody and IL-2 Complex Combination Therapy Inhibits Atherosclerosis by Augmenting a Regulatory Immune Response. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 3: e000719–e000719.
- 143. Vocanson, M., A. Hennino, M. Cluzel-Tailhardat, P. Saint-Mezard, J. Benetiere, C. Chavagnac, F. Berard, D. Kaiserlian, and J.-F. Nicolas. 2006. CD8+ T cells are effector cells of contact dermatitis to common skin allergens in mice. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 126: 815–820.
- 144. Wing, K., Y. Onishi, P. Prieto-Martin, T. Yamaguchi, M. Miyara, Z. Fehervari, T. Nomura, and S. Sakaguchi. 2008. CTLA-4 Control over Foxp3+ Regulatory T Cell Function. *Science* 322: 271–275.
- 145. Read, S., V. Malmström, and F. Powrie. 2000. Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte–Associated Antigen 4 Plays an Essential Role in the Function of Cd25+Cd4+ Regulatory Cells That Control Intestinal Inflammation. *J. Exp. Med.* 192: 295–302.
- 146. Tadokoro, C. E., G. Shakhar, S. Shen, Y. Ding, A. C. Lino, A. Maraver, J. J. Lafaille, and M. L. Dustin. 2006. Regulatory T cells inhibit stable contacts between CD4+ T cells and dendritic cells in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 203: 505–511.
- 147. Qureshi, O. S., Y. Zheng, K. Nakamura, K. Attridge, C. Manzotti, E. M. Schmidt, J. Baker, L. E. Jeffery, S. Kaur, Z. Briggs, T. Z. Hou, C. E. Futter, G. Anderson, L. S. K. Walker, and D. M. Sansom. 2011. Trans-endocytosis of CD80 and CD86: a molecular basis for the cell extrinsic function of CTLA-4. *Science* 332: 600–603.
- 148. Kulkarni, U., C. M. Karsten, T. Kohler, S. Hammerschmidt, K. Bommert, B. Tiburzy, L. Meng, L. Thieme, A. Recke, R. J. Ludwig, K. Pollok, K. Kalies, B. Bogen, M. Boettcher, T. Kamradt, A. E. Hauser, C. Langer, M. Huber-Lang, F. D. Finkelman, J. Köhl, D. M. Wong, and R. A. Manz. IL-10 mediates plasmacytosis-associated immunodeficiency by inhibiting complement-mediated neutrophil migration. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 0.
- 149. Lewkowicz, P., N. Lewkowicz, A. Sasiak, and H. Tchórzewski. 2006. Lipopolysaccharide-Activated CD4+CD25+ T Regulatory Cells Inhibit Neutrophil Function and Promote Their Apoptosis and Death. J. Immunol. 177: 7155–7163.
- 150. Richards, H., A. Williams, E. Jones, J. Hindley, A. Godkin, A. K. Simon, and A. Gallimore. 2010. Novel role of regulatory T cells in limiting early neutrophil responses in skin. *Immunology* 131: 583–592.
- 151. Mori, T., K. Kabashima, R. Yoshiki, K. Sugita, N. Shiraishi, A. Onoue, E. Kuroda, M. Kobayashi, U. Yamashita, and Y. Tokura. 2008. Cutaneous hypersensitivities to hapten are

controlled by IFN-gamma-upregulated keratinocyte Th1 chemokines and IFN-gamma-downregulated langerhans cell Th2 chemokines. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 128: 1719–1727.

- 152. Piccirillo, C. A., and E. M. Shevach. 2001. Cutting Edge: Control of CD8+ T Cell Activation by CD4+CD25+ Immunoregulatory Cells. *J. Immunol.* 167: 1137–1140.
- 153. Mavin, E., S. S. Ahmed, G. O'Boyle, B. Turner, S. Douglass, J. Norden, M. Collin, S. Ali, A. Dickinson, and X.-N. Wang. 2012. Regulatory T cells inhibit CD8(+) T-cell tissue invasion in human skin graft-versus-host reactions. *Transplantation* 94: 456–464.
- 154. Hamano, R., T. Baba, S. Sasaki, U. Tomaru, A. Ishizu, M. Kawano, M. Yamagishi, and N. Mukaida. 2014. Ag and IL-2 immune complexes efficiently expand Ag-specific Treg cells that migrate in response to chemokines and reduce localized immune responses: Cellular immune response. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 44: 1005–1015.
- 155. Gratz, I. K., H.-A. Truong, S. H.-Y. Yang, M. M. Maurano, K. Lee, A. K. Abbas, and M. D. Rosenblum. 2013. Cutting Edge: memory regulatory t cells require IL-7 and not IL-2 for their maintenance in peripheral tissues. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md* 1950 190: 4483–4487.
- 156. Kalia, V., L. A. Penny, Y. Yuzefpolskiy, F. M. Baumann, and S. Sarkar. 2015. Quiescence of Memory CD8+ T Cells Is Mediated by Regulatory T Cells through Inhibitory Receptor CTLA-4. *Immunity* 42: 1116–1129.
- 157. Kim, N., Y.-W. Jeon, Y.-S. Nam, J.-Y. Lim, K.-I. Im, E.-S. Lee, and S.-G. Cho. 2015. Therapeutic potential of low-dose IL-2 in a chronic GVHD patient by in vivo expansion of regulatory T cells. *Cytokine* 78: 22–26.

## **ABBREVIATIONS**

APC	Antigen presenting cell
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BAC	Bacterial artificial chromosome
BLIMP1	B lymphocyte-induced maturation protein 1
Bregs	Regulatory B cells
CHS	Contact hypersensitivity
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4
DAMPs	Damage-associated molecular patterns
DBP	Dibutyl phthalate
DC	Dendritic cell
DEREG	Depletion of regulatory T cells
DT	Diphtheria toxin
DTR-eGFP	Diphtheria toxin receptor-enhanced green fluorescent protein
ELISPOT	Enzyme-linked immunospot
fasL	Fas ligand
FCS	Fetal Calf Serum
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
Foxp3	forkhead box P3
H&E	Hematoxylin and Eosin
HA	Hyaluronic acid
i.p.	Intraperitoneally
ICAM-1	intercellular adhesion molecule 1
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
IL-2R	IL-2 receptor
JAK-STAT	Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription pathway
LAG-3	Lymphocyte activation gene 3
LAP	Latency-associate peptide
LN	Lymph nodes
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex

mAbs	Monoclonal antibodies
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MAPKs	Mitogen-activated protein kinases
NF-κB	Nuclear factor-ĸB
NK cells	Natural killer cells
NLRs	NOD-like receptors
Nrp-1	Neuropilin-1
nTregs	Natural regulatory T cells
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PMA	Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate
pTregs	Peripheral regulatory T cells
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor $\beta$
TLRs	Toll-like receptors
TLSP	Thymic stromal lymphopoietin
TNBS	2,4,6-Trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid
TNCB	2,4,6-trinitrochlorobenzene
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
Tregs	regulatory T cells
TSDR	Treg-specific demethylated region

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Immune cells residing in the skin7
Figure 1.2: Possible mechanisms involved in DC inhibition by Tregs
Figure 1.3: Mechanisms of direct T effector cell suppression by Tregs
Figure 1.4: CTLA-4 mediated T effector suppression by Tregs via DC contacts
Figure 1.5: Mechanism of action of IL-2/mAbs complexes
Figure 3.1: Scheme of CHS induction and treatment regimen before sensitization
Figure 3.2: Rapid and transient expansion of Tregs upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment
Figure 3.3: IL-2/JES6-1 injection before sensitization results in CHS suppression
Figure 3.4: Induction of nTregs and pTregs upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment
Figure 3.5: Foxp3+ Nrp-1+ Tregs co-express Helios
Figure 3.6: Increased numbers of LAP-1 <sup>+</sup> Tregs in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice
Figure 3.7: Expansion of CTLA-4 <sup>+</sup> Tregs in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice
Figure 3.8: Up-regulation of CTLA-4+ by Tregs after IL-2/JES6-1 treatment
Figure 3.9: Induction of IL-10 expression by CD4 T cells upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment 45
Figure 3.10: IL-2/JES6-1 treatment before challenge efficiently suppresses CHS
Figure 3.11: Augmented IL-10 expression by CD4 T cells in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice before challenge
Figure 3.12: TGF-β expressing Tregs remain unaffected by IL-2/JES6-1 treatment before challenge
Figure 3.13: Characterization of CTLA-4+ Tregs following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment
Figure 3.14: Reduced cellular influx in challenged skin following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment 52
Figure 3.15: Effect of IL-2/JES6-1 on neutrophils53
Figure 3.16: Reduced CD8 T cell accumulation in the skin upon IL-2/JES6-1 treatment 54
Figure 3.17: IL-2/JES6-1 treatment results in increased Treg frequencies in inflamed skin55
Figure 3.18: IL-2/JES6-1 does not affect neutrophils directly
Figure 3.19: Depletion of Foxp3+ Tregs following diphtheria toxin injection

Figure 3.20: Treg depletion restores the CHS response in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice
Figure 3.21: IL-2/JES6-1 treatment suppresses sensitization and challenge phases of CHS 62
Figure 3.22: Down-regulation of CD86 by DCs in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice
Figure 3.23: Treg expansion by IL-2/JES6-1 results in long-term CHS suppression
Figure 3.24: IL-2/JES6-1 mediates a systemic CHS suppression
Figure 3.25: Treg expansion induces an antigen-specific suppression of CHS
Figure 3.26: Foxp3+ Tregs selectively reduce hapten-specific CD8 T cells71
Figure 3.27: Increased Tregs were detected in IL-2/JES6-1 treated mice after a second challenge
Figure 3.28: Reduced Breg numbers following IL-2/JES6-1 treatment
## LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1.1: Buffers and medias	24
Table 2.1.2: Kits	24
Table 2.1.3: Antibody list	25
Table 2.1.4: List of reagents used in CHS induction	25
Table 2.1.5: Other reagents	26
Table 2.1.6: List of laboratory equipment	26
Table 2.1.7: List of consumables	27
Table 2.1.8: Software list used for data analysis	27